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CHARACTERISTICS OF THE GROWTH ENTERPRISE MARKET
("GEM") OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED
(THE “STOCK EXCHANGE")

GEM has been established as a market designed to
accommodate companies to which a high investment risk may
be attached. In particular, companies may list on GEM with
neither a track record of profitability nor any obligation to
forecast future profitability. Furthermore, there may be risks
arising out of the emerging nature of companies listed on
GEM and the business sectors or countries in which the
companies operate. Prospective investors should be aware of
the potential risks of investing in such companies and should
make the decision to invest only after due and careful
consideration. The greater risk profile and other characteristics
of GEM mean that it is a market more suited to professional
and other sophisticated investors.

Given the emerging nature of companies listed on GEM,
there is a risk that securities traded on GEM may be more
susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on
the Main Board and no assurance is given that there will be a
liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

The principal means of information dissemination on GEM
is publication on the Internet website operated by the Stock
Exchange. Listed companies are not generally required to issue
paid announcements in gazetted newspapers. Accordingly,
prospective investors should note that they need to have
access to the GEM website at http://www.hkgem.com in order
to obtain up-to-date information on GEM-listed issuers.

The Stock Exchange takes no responsibility for the contents of
this report, makes no representation as to its accuracy or
completeness and expressly disclaims any liability whatsoever for
any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or
any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of
Plasmagene Biosciences Limited (the “Company”) collectively and
individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in
compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
the GEM of the Stock Exchange (the "GEM Listing Rules”) for the
purpose of giving information with regard to the Company. The
Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that to the
best of their knowledge and belief, (1) the information contained in
this report is accurate and complete in all material respects and not
misleading; (2) there are no other matters the omission of which
would make any statement in this report misleading; and (3) all
opinions expressed in this report have been arrived at after due and
careful consideration and are founded on bases and assumptions
that are fair and reasonable.
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NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERALMEETING R R B F K8 B &

BBELZREREYEEERAR ([AQ
T11) Z:TR 2005510240 (281 —) FF AR E

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that an annual general meeting
(the “AGM") of Plasmagene Biosciences Limited (the “Company”)
will be held at 5/F, Club Lusitano, 16 Ice House Street, Central, BEEBSTPREERG T ARAFTEMAERESR
Hong Kong on Monday, 24 October 2005 at 9:00 a.m. to transact TRRBFRG ([RRBEKRE]) - UEETF
the following ordinary businesses: —REIE

to receive, consider and, if thought fit, approve the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries and the reports of the directors of the Company
(the “Directors”) and the auditors for the year ended 30
June 2005;

to re-elect the retiring Directors, namely, Mr. Cho Kam Luk
and Mr. Chan Po Kwong, and to authorise the board of
Directors (the “Board”) to fix their remuneration;

to re-appoint the auditors, RSM Nelson Wheeler, and
authorise the Board to fix their remuneration;

to consider as special business and, if thought fit, pass
with or without amendments, the following resolution as
an ordinary resolution:

“THAT:

(@) subject to paragraph (c) of this resolution, pursuant to
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM
of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”), the
exercise by the Directors during the Relevant Period
(as defined below) of all the powers of the Company
to allot, issue and deal with the unissued shares in the
capital of the Company, including without limitation
upon the exercise of any options which have been/
may be granted pursuant to an agreement entered
into by the Company with The Chinese University of
Hong Kong (the “Chinese University”) on 8 August
2002 relating to the grant of a right of first refusal to
the Company by the Chinese University in respect of
certain technology and inventions, as amended and
supplemented by agreements dated 31 October 2003
and 16 April 2004 (the “Right of First Refusal
Agreement”), and to make or grant offers, agreements
and options which might require the exercise of such
powers be and the same is hereby generally and
unconditionally approved;
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(b) the approval in paragraph (a) of this resolution shall

authorise the Directors during the Relevant Period (as
defined below) to make or grant offers, agreements
and options which might require the exercise of such
powers after the end of the Relevant Period (as defined
below);

the aggregate nominal amount of share capital allotted
or agreed conditionally or unconditionally to be allotted
(whether pursuant to options or otherwise), issued or
dealt with by the Directors pursuant to the approval in
paragraph (a) of this resolution, otherwise than
pursuant to (i) a Rights Issue (as defined below); or (ii)
the exercise of any option under the share option
scheme of the Company; or (i) any scrip dividend or
similar arrangement providing for the allotment and
issue of shares in lieu of the whole or part of a dividend
on shares in accordance with the Articles of Association
of the Company in force from time to time; or (iv) any
issue of shares in the Company upon the exercise of
rights of subscription or conversion under the terms
of any warrants or convertible bonds issued by the
Company or any securities which carry rights to
subscribe for or are convertible into shares in the
Company, shall not exceed the aggregate of:

(aa) 20% of the aggregate nominal amount of the
share capital of the Company in issue on the date
of passing of this resolution; and

(bb) (if the Directors are so authorised by a separate
ordinary resolution of the shareholders of the
Company) the nominal amount of any share capital
of the Company repurchased by the Company
subsequent to the passing of this resolution (up
to a maximum equivalent to 10% of the aggregate
nominal amount of the share capital of the
Company in issue on the date of the passing of
this resolution),

and the authority pursuant to paragraph (a) of this
resolution shall be limited accordingly; and

EHREREMMEERALAT PLASMAGENE BIOSCIENCES LIMITED 5

(b)

ARERF@QBOBLERREES
REBBRAAELIRLAERTE
REBBRBERRITEZZFENN
SRR - B RBRE

ESRBARZERSE QBOBLEM
REXREBH GRS EGRSE (T
W e AR R IR R S Ay B
) BOIBRENRAEEE T
SHBANTMENEN - 0K
(EER T ¢ k(TEARFE
Bt 8 T RO ME R A AR ¢ J(iR
BIBERNAARABERA
Al BITABRRERBULREMS
BB RBETROARE 2N
BB ¢ 3(iv) TEARBELNEM
REEERARBEZENERET
4 M T 78 T 31T RO AE ] AR A0 3 MY
TRANTREARARO KBRS
ARA B WEREZF A AZUR
l

(aa) ARZREEBBEALARARFD
BITRABREEN20% &

(bb) ({§E B A RD )RR AE LAY
LRRBZREE)REAAZRE
B AR R ENADBMER
BATE(REZHEERTAZER
BREAARRBEBEITRAR
EEMN10%) -

AR 3 AR 3 5 (a) BR IR M 0 SR AE T
RULRH - R




ANNUAL ReporT 2005 = 3%

NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERALMEETING R R B F K8 B &

(d) RARBEMS - [BB@HHE]0HE

(d) for the purposes of this resolution, “Relevant Period” means

the period from the date of the passing of this resolution
until whichever is the earliest of:

(i) the conclusion of the next annual general meeting of
the Company;

(i) the expiration of the period within which the next
annual general meeting of the Company is required
by the Memorandum and Articles of Association of
the Company or any other applicable laws of the
Cayman Islands to be held; and

(iii) the date on which the authority given under this
resolution is revoked or varied by an ordinary resolution
of the shareholders of the Company in general
meeting.

“Rights Issue” means an offer of shares in the Company,
or offer or issue of warrants, options or other securities
giving rights to subscribe for shares open for a period
fixed by the Directors to eligible holders of shares in the
Company on the register on a fixed record date in
proportion to their then holdings of shares (subject to such
exclusion or other arrangements as the Directors may deem
necessary or expedient in relation to fractional entitlements,
or having regard to any restrictions or obligations under
the laws of, or the requirements of, or the expense or
delay which may be involved in determining the existence
or extent of any restrictions or obligations under the laws
of, or the requirements of, any jurisdiction applicable to
the Company or any recognised regulatory body or any
stock exchange in any territory applicable to the
Company).”
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5. to consider as special business and, if thought fit, pass
with or without amendments, the following resolution as
an ordinary resolution:

“THAT:

(a)

subject to paragraph (b) of this resolution, the exercise
by the Directors during the Relevant Period (as defined
below) of all powers of the Company to repurchase its
shares on the GEM or any other stock exchange outside
Hong Kong on which the shares of the Company may
be listed and recognised by the Securities and Futures
Commission of Hong Kong (“SFC”) and the Stock
Exchange for such purpose, and otherwise in
accordance with the rules and regulations of the SFC,
the GEM Listing Rules, the Articles of Association of
the Company and all other applicable laws in this
regards, be and the same is hereby generally and
unconditionally approved;

the aggregate nominal amount of shares of the
Company which may be repurchased by the Company
pursuant to the approval in paragraph (a) of this
resolution during the Relevant Period (as defined below)
shall not exceed 10% of the aggregate nominal amount
of the issued share capital of the Company as at the
date of the passing of this resolution and the authority
pursuant to paragraph (a) of this resolution shall be
limited accordingly; and

for the purposes of this resolution, “Relevant Period”
means the period from the date of the passing of this
resolution until whichever is the earliest of:

(i) the conclusion of the next general meeting of the
Company;

(i) the expiration of the period within which the next
annual general meeting of the Company is
required by the Memorandum and Articles of
Association of the Company or any other
applicable laws of the Cayman Islands to be held;
and

(iii) the date on which the authority given under this
resolution is revoked or varied by an ordinary
resolution of the shareholders of the Company in
general meeting.”
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6. to consider as special business and, if thought fit, pass
with or without amendments, the following resolution as
an ordinary resolution:

"THAT:

subject to the ordinary resolutions nos. 4 and 5 above
being duly passed, the unconditional general mandate
granted to the Directors to exercise the powers of the
Company to allot, issue and deal with unissued shares
pursuant to resolution no. 4 above be and is hereby
extended by the addition thereto of an amount representing
the aggregate nominal amount of the share capital of the
Company repurchased by the Company under the authority
granted pursuant to resolution no. 5 above, provided that
such amount shall not exceed 10% of the aggregate
nominal amount of the issued share capital of the Company
as at the date of the passing of this resolution.”

As at the date of this notice, the executive Directors are Dr.
Yeung Wah Hin, Alex, Mr. Cheng Yan Tak, Angus Ronald, Mr. Cho
Kam Luk and Mrs. Yeung Tsui Mai Ling, Margaret; the non-executive
Director is Mr. Lau Kam Shan; and the independent non-executive
Directors are Dr. Ngan Man Wong, Matthew, Dr. Loh Kai Tsu, Kevin,
Mr. Chan Siu Wing, Raymond and Mr. Chan Po Kwong.

By order of the Board
Plasmagene Biosciences Limited
Dr. Yeung Wah Hin, Alex

Chairman
Hong Kong, 29 September 2005
Registered Office: Principal Place of Business in
Ugland House Hong Kong:
PO Box 309GT 5/F., Club Lusitano
South Church Street 16 Ice House Street
Grand Cayman Central
Cayman Islands Hong Kong
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Notes:

A member entitled to attend and vote at the AGM convened by the
above notice is entitled to appoint one or more proxy to attend and,
subject to the provisions of the Articles of Association of the Company,
to vote on his behalf. A proxy need not be a member of the Company
but must be present in person at the AGM to represent the member. If
more than one proxy is so appointed, the appointment shall specify
the number and class of shares in respect of which each such proxy is
so appointed.

A form of proxy for use at the AGM will be enclosed with the 2005
Annual Report. Such form of proxy is also published on the GEM website
at www.hkgem.com. In order to be valid, the form of proxy must be
duly completed and signed in accordance with the instructions printed
thereon and deposited together with a power of attorney or other
authority, if any, under which it is signed, or a notarially certified copy
of such power or authority, at the office of the Company’s branch
share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong
Kong Investor Services Limited at 46th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183
Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong not less than 48 hours before the time
appointed for holding the AGM or any adjournment thereof. Completion
and return of a form of proxy will not preclude a member from attending
in person and voting at the AGM or any adjournment thereof, should
he/she so wish.

In the case of joint holders of shares, any one of such holders may
vote at the AGM, either personally or by proxy, in respect of such share
as if he/she was solely entitled thereto, but if more than one of such
joint holders are present at the AGM personally or by proxy, that one
of the said persons so present whose name stands first on the register
of members of the Company in respect of such shares shall alone be
entitled to vote in respect thereof.
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In relation to the proposed resolution no. 2 above,

(i) in accordance with Article 95, Mr. Chan Po Kwong who was
appointed as independent non-executive Director by the Board on
1 December 2004, shall retire from office at the AGM. Mr. Chan
Po Kwong, being eligible, offers himself for re-election as
independent non-executive Director at the AGM; and

(i) in accordance with Article 122, Mr. Cho Kam Luk and Dr. Loh Kai
Tsu, Kevin will retire from their offices by rotation at the AGM.
Mr. Cho Kam Luk, an executive Director, being eligible, offers
himself for re-election as executive Director at the AGM. Dr. Loh
Kai Tsu, Kevin, an independent non-executive Director will not
offer himself for re-election at the AGM.

Particulars relating to the proposed Directors who are subject to re-
election are set in the Appendix Il of the circular titled “Letter from the
Chairman” which was despatched together with the 2005 Annual
Report.

In relation to the proposed resolutions nos. 4 and 6 above, approval is
being sought from the shareholders of the Company for the grant to
the Directors of a general mandate to authorise the allotment and
issue of shares under the GEM Listing Rules. The Directors have no
immediate plans to issue new shares other than the shares which may
fall to be issued under the share option scheme of the Company, or
the Right of First Refusal Agreement, or any scrip dividend scheme or
similar arrangement providing for the allotment and issue of shares in
lieu of whole or part of a dividend which may be approved by the
shareholders of the Company.

In relation to the proposed resolution no. 5 above, the Directors wish
to state that they will exercise the powers conferred thereby to
repurchase shares in circumstances which they deem appropriate for
the benefit of the shareholders of the Company. An explanatory
statement containing the information necessary to enable the
shareholders of the Company to make an informed decision to vote on
the proposed resolution as required by the GEM Listing Rules is set out
in a separate document to be despatched to the shareholders of the
Company with the 2005 Annual Report.
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On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the
“Directors”) of Plasmagene Biosciences Limited (the “Company”), |
am pleased to present to our shareholders the annual report of the
Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the year ended 30
June 2005.

BUSINESS REVIEW

This past year had been a mixed year for the Group. There had
been disappointment in the development of business around the
foetal maternal diagnostic markers, but the Group had achieved
solid success in the broadening of diagnostic platform with new
molecular tests and solidifying the pace towards the Food and Drug
Administration (the “FDA") of the United States and the State of
Food and Drug Administration (the “SFDA") of the People’s Republic
of China (the “PRC") registration of the Group’s prime product,
EBgene, for nasopharyngeal cancer.

The community research programme (jointly conducted with
Spring Biotech Limited, an indirectly wholly owned subsidiary of
Town Health International Holdings Company Limited (“Town
Health”)) consisted of seminars and the offering of the Group’s
cancer tests to the public free of charge expired on 30 June 2004. It
was continued for a limited scale in July 2004 and, as a result,
revenue of the Group decreased during the year ended 30 June
2005.

In addition to the Group's testing services in nasopharyngeal
cancer and Epstein-Barr virus ("EB virus”) associated cancers, namely
EBgene, EBeasy and EBcombo (collectively “EB tests”), the Group
launched its new hepatitis B DNA test, namely HBeasy, in May 2005
and started earning revenue at a steady pace.

On 1 June 2005, an exclusive distribution right agreement to
private physicians and medical clinics in Hong Kong and Macau for
a new cardiac monitoring diagnostic test was signed between the
Group and a diagnostic pharmaceutical company. This new cardiac
monitoring test can detect arterial inflammation leading to common
heart diseases at an early stage. Since heart disease is the leading
cause of death in the elderly, this may represent a good opportunity
for the Group to offer cardiac as well as cancer diagnostic tests to
those individuals seeking complete body check up to the two most
common catastrophic illnesses.

In the latter part of June 2005, the Group completed the initial
evaluation of an easy urine test for the human papilloma virus
("HPV"), or the virus causing cervical cancer in women.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT * & & &

Due to limited interests at this moment in other parts of the
world, the Group has focused its business in Hong Kong, the PRC,
Japan and Australia. Further details will be discussed under the
paragraph headed “Business development” in the section headed
“Management discussion and analysis” of this annual report.

FUTURE PLANS AND PROSPECTS

The Group will, besides the stated business pursuit set forth in
the prospectus of the Company dated 8 June 2004, extend and
expand its services on the diagnosis of cancer and other serious
illnesses, such as heart disease as mentioned in the recent signing
agreement with a diagnostic pharmaceutical company, using the
Group's existing and developing state of the art technologies in
combination with other high technology equipment that may found
to be complementary or act as solutions to these diseases. In the
near future, the Group may seek to open such a high end specialty
diagnostic center, catering for insurance companies, local physicians
as well as independent individuals coming from Mainland China.
Such a practical strategy to recruit new and successful business has
long been related to our business plans in the past, but now the
Group is one step closer to this reality.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity to
express our sincere appreciation to all our shareholders, customers,
investors, business partners and staff for their continued support.
We shall continue to explore on ways to improve on the business
results in the year ahead.

Dr. Yeung Wah Hin, Alex
Chairman

Hong Kong, 22 September 2005
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RESULTS AND DIVIDEND

For the year ended 30 June 2005, the Group recorded a turnover
of approximately HK$1,133,000 (2004: approximately HK$1,742,000)
and a net loss attributable to shareholders of approximately
HK$5,591,000 (2004: approximately HK$4,234,000). The basic loss
per share was approximately 1.62 HK cents (2004: approximately
1.76 HK cents).

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend
for the year ended 30 June 2005 in order to retain sufficient cash
resources to finance the continuing development of the Group’s
business.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Turnover of the Group are mainly derived from the cancer
diagnostic testing services of EBgene, EBeasy and EBcombo. The
Group's new test HBeasy which was launched to the market in May
2005 started earning revenue.

The Group recorded a turnover of approximately HK$1,133,000
for the year ended 30 June 2005, representing a decrease of
approximately 34.9% as compared to approximately HK$1,742,000
for the year ended 30 June 2004. This is mainly due to the expiry of
the community research programme jointly conducted with Spring
Biotech Limited, an indirectly wholly owned subsidiary of Town Health
International Holdings Company Limited (collectively the “Town
Health Group”) on 30 June 2004. Such programme was continued
in a limited scale with Town Health Group during early of July 2004.

The Group’s sales less cost of sales represented approximately
8% of turnover for the year ended 30 June 2005 which was
significantly dropped when compared with that of year ended 30
June 2004, which was approximately 28% of turnover. This is mainly
due to the drop in revenue and increase in direct salaries after the
Company’s listing on GEM.

Net loss of the Group amounted to approximately HK$5,591,000
for the year ended 30 June 2005, representing an increase of
approximately 32% as compared to that of approximately
HK$4,234,000 for the year ended 30 June 2004. The increase in
net loss is mainly due to (i) write off of intangible assets amounted
to approximately HK$419,000 relating to termination of four licence
agreements on 28 January 2005 as discussed under the paragraph
headed “Business development” in this section; (ii) increase in direct
salaries and marketing staff salaries after the Company’s listing on
GEM; (iii) increase in compliance costs including listing fee, retained
sponsor fee, branch share registrar fee and printing costs of financial
reports and announcements; (iv) increase in costs for overseas launch
of testing services and products; and (v) increase in research and
product registration expenses.
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BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT

There was a drop in turnover of the Group for the year ended
30 June 2005 as compared with that for the year ended 30 June
2004. The major reasons were (i) reduction in the revenue from
community research programme and (ii) poor sales and marketing
results of the foetal maternal research and other diseases’ testing
services or kits to various territories like Hong Kong, Japan and
Australia.

In view of either poor sales result after extensive marketing
effort or no foreseeable commercial product for the technologies
relating to (i) stroke prognosis test, (ii) pleural effusion classification
tests, (iii) methods for evaluating a disease condition by nucleic acid
detection and fractionation and (iv) non-invasive pre-natal monitoring
by a single male sex marker, the Group had terminated these four
licence agreements with the licensor in January 2005 in order to cut
down on the possible legal, research and development and marketing
expenses.

In February 2005, the Group entered into an agreement with
the licensor that the worldwide exclusiveness for the technologies
titled "Detection of cells or DNA of different origins within the
body” and “Circulating mRNA as diagnostic markers for pregnancy-
related disorders” would now be restricted to Japan, Australia, the
PRC and Hong Kong. These four territories are the geographic target
market of the Group disclosed in the prospectus of the Company
dated 8 June 2004. In exchange, the licensor assigned to the Group
totaling five patent applications in the PRC, Japan and Hong Kong
relating to the technology namely, “Circulating Epstein-Barr virus
DNA in the serum of patients with gastric carcinoma”, “Circulating
Epstein-Barr virus DNA in the serum or plasma of patients for the
prediction and detection of Epstein-Barr virus associated cancers
apart from head, neck and Ilymphoid malignancies” and
“Combination of circulating Epstein-Barr virus (EBV) DNA in the
serum or plasma of patients and a method to assess EBV subtypes
for the prediction and detection of Epstein-Barr virus associated
cancers”.

Marketing efforts have been made for the research test kits for
foetal maternal diseases since end of June 2004. However, the Group
has not made any sales of these research test kits up to date even
though there were some encouraging but preliminary discussions
with manufacturers. The use of the Group’s foetal RNA test kits in
the form of beta HCG to test for Down’s syndrome has not shown
any statistical significance as yet in the most recent clinical update.
The older but traditional standard non-invasive method can achieve
a near perfect, 98%, sensitivity for the detection of Down'’s
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syndrome. This dampened completely the demand for any new kits
in the research stage. The Group will continue to try to seek further
research into other methodologies or other business opportunities
in the foetal maternal field using the same basic scientific platform.

Despite the setbacks in the foetal maternal field, the registration
of test kit of EBgene in the FDA is under way and in good process.
The Group has submitted preliminary clinical study results to FDA.
Further data may be required to complete the FDA application.
EBgene has fulfilled its International Organisation for Standardisation
("1SO 13485:2003") compliance according to an external auditor
and will start its application for the SFDA after the FDA application
is obtained.

Diagnostic screening plans have been established in January
2005 for both normal individuals and/or cancer patients in Hong
Kong. These plans are offered with co-marketing efforts with other
well-known diagnostic and life sciences companies. Currently, there
are over 400 enrolled members, and the numbers are increasing
every month through these joint marketing efforts.

A new hepatitis B DNA test, HBeasy, suitable for the monitoring
of patients at high risk for cirrhosis and liver cancer was developed
and launched.

PRODUCT LAUNCH
The Group launched its hepatitis B DNA test, namely HBeasy, in
May 2005 and started earning revenue at a steady pace.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

The Group continued its research and development in the
general cancer test which aims to detect cancer through the analysis
of the presence of certain proteins, DNA and RNA in blood plasma
or serum which is linked to cancerous diseases. This is intended to
be used as a general screening test for cancers. The Group is
negotiating with an insurance company or diagnostic companies to
launch this test as part of a regular body check, and is expected to
announce such new business initiative some time in the near future.

The Group is working with a major biotechnology company to
co-develop a hepatitis B virus (“HBV") test which to monitor HBV
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viral loading in hepatitis B carriers. The test aims to early detection
of liver cancer and to replace the existing available test at a cheaper
price.

HPV test for cervical cancer is a urine test that can be used as a
supplement to pelvic examination. A community test was done in
April 2005 and about 50 participants were involved in the trial test.
It is likely the urine HPV test will be developed and incorporated
into the general body check program.

The Group has also started laboratory as well as preliminary
clinical research into the use of other new markers for general
cancer screening such as leptin, osteopontin, prolactin, insulin like
growth factors, pepsinogen | and gastrin 17.

SALES AND MARKETING

As explained in the paragraph headed "Business development”
in this section, sales and marketing efforts have been made to
stroke prognosis test, pleural effusion classification tests and foetal
maternal tests. However, no sales are recorded.

The Group will continue its sales and marketing on its existing
and newly established diagnostic tests though public seminars and
co-operations with other diagnostic and biotechnology companies.

FUTURE PLANS AND PROSPECTS

The Group will continue to explore the potential market in its
services on the diagnosis of cancer and other serious illness, such as
heart diseases using the Group’s existing and developing technologies
with other advance equipment. In the near future the Group may
seek to open such a high end specialty diagnostic center, catering
for insurance companies, local physicians as well as independent
individuals coming from Mainland China.

The Group will also continue the completion of registration of
its primary product, EBgene for the monitoring of nasopharyngeal
carcinoma, with the FDA and subsequently with the SFDA. As
preliminary marketing shows that most laboratories and physicians
are only convinced to use the product after the product has been
registered with the FDA and SFDA, marketing and sales of the
product will be delayed for the time being until such a registration
is completed.
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LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 30 June 2005, the Group held cash and bank balances of
approximately HK$24,863,000 (2004: approximately
HK$39,093,000). In July 2004, the Group had invested in five-year
treasury notes of the United States with interest rate of 4% per
annum with market value as at 30 June 2005 amounted to
approximately HK$7,731,000. Net current assets amounted to
approximately HK$32,883,000 (2004: approximately
HK$38,632,000). Current ratio (defined as total current assets divided
by total current liabilities) was approximately 61.2 times (2004:
approximately 32.5 times).

The Group had no bank borrowing as at 30 June 2005 (2004:
Nil).

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The shares of the Company were listed on GEM on 18 June
2004 (the "Listing Date”). There has been no change in the capital
structure of the Company since the Company’s Listing Date. Up to
the year ended 30 June 2005, the Group's net assets were financed
by share capital, reserves and convertible notes (fully converted into
share capital of the Company since 18 June 2005). Total equity
attributable to shareholders as at 30 June 2005 was approximately
HK$36,993,000 (2004: approximately HK$28,697,000).

Most of the trading transactions, assets and liabilities of the
Group were denominated in Hong Kong dollars and United States
dollars. As at 30 June 2005, the Group had no significant exposure
to foreign exchange and interest rate risks.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT

In July 2004, surplus cash of approximately HK$7,846,000 was
invested in five-year treasury notes of the United States with interest
rate of 4% per annum. The market value as at 30 June 2005 was
approximately HK$7,731,000. An unrealised holding loss amounting
to approximately HK$115,000 has been charged to the consolidated
income statement for the year ended 30 June 2005. This was
compensated by the relevant interest income of approximately
HK$320,000.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group principally engaged in two business segments, one
is the provision of diagnostic testing services and the other is research
and development.

Currently, the Group conducts its business in Hong Kong only.
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EMPLOYEE INFORMATION
A breakdown of the number of staff of the Group by
responsibilities as at 30 June 2005 and 2004 is set out below:

EEEHR
7220054 [ 20046 A308  ABHKEIH 8
AEEETHEWT

2005 2004
20055 20044
Management EEE 2
Sales and marketing HERMIGHE 3
Research and development B 9% £ A 2
(including implementation (BRERREMR
of laboratory for the RE BRI
provision of the Group’s PR 75 1 4 1T
testing services) L) 3 3
Administration and finance TH R 3
1 12

All the employees are stationed in Hong Kong.

The Group remunerates its employees based on industry’s
practices and individual’s performance and experience. On top of
regular remuneration, share options may be granted to eligible staff
under the share option scheme adopted by the Company on 20
April 2004 by reference to the Group's performance as well as
individual's performance.

The Group maintains good relationship with its staff and there
has not been any labour disputes since incorporation. In addition to
their basic salaries, employees also enjoy mandatory provident fund
and other fringe benefits.

The total staff costs, including Directors’ emoluments, amounted
to approximately HK$2,983,000 for the year ended 30 June 2005
(2004: approximately HK$2,040,000).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
As at 30 June 2005, the Group had no significant contingent
liabilities.
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USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE COMPANY'S INITIAL PUBLIC
OFFERING

The proceeds from the Company’s issue of new shares from its
listing on GEM was HK$32 million. The listing expenses were
increased from HK$8 million as stated in the prospectus of the
Company dated on 8 June 2004 to approximately HK$9.6 million.
The net proceeds from the listing is approximately HK$22.4 million.
It was mainly due to increase in professional fees and printing costs.
The use of net proceeds for the period from 3 June 2004 (being the
latest practicable date prior to the printing of the prospectus of the
Company) to 30 June 2005 are as follows:

ARTERAMRERD WK BRERS

RARRE *xﬁfraﬂ%ﬂitmHﬁéﬁ%ﬁﬁxﬁﬁﬁ
5 #5778 532,000,000 70 - EHRAIAARRA
Wooﬁeﬂsa%%aﬁ%\“ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁmsoooooo
BT EINE479,600,0008 7T o TS 2 208
SHEE#722,400,000/87C o RS EMNTEAR
EEATEBRRIRAAIEMATE - ;1200446 A
3HAARRRRERFENAINHEEZATHBRE
£2005F6A308 [LHAfE - FTEFURACEBENUTH
%o

Actual
(Approximately)
Planned BR
BE (W)
Notes HK$ HK$
ff % BT BT
Patent expenditures BMFEX a 1,910,000 699,000
Product marketing EmiEE 3,240,000 605,000
Compliance requirements ERAT c 900,000 137,000
Research and development it 9% £ e B¢
(including salaries and (BEHFeR
material costs) MERKR) b 1,290,000 465,000
7,340,000 1,906,000
Notes: I E

a. Decrease in patent expenditures was mainly due to (i) termination
of four licence agreements in January 2005 and (i) the territories
of two worldwide exclusive licence agreements have been restricted
to Japan, Australia, the PRC and Hong Kong only in February
2005. These significantly reduce the legal costs that would be
incurred during pursuance of worldwide patent applications.

b.  Similar to patent expenses, decrease in product marketing and
research and development expenses was mainly due to termination
of four licence agreements in January 2005. The planned budget
will be used in other commercially viable testing services/products.

c.  Registrations of the Group’s EBgene in the FDA and the SFDA are
under way. Included in the compliance expenses, there are deposits
of approximately HK$78,000 paid to a consultant for EBgene’s
ISO 13485:2003 certification application. Currently, the Group
focused on the registration of EBgene first in the United States
and the PRC so that planned budget for Japan and Australia will
be delayed.
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a. HENFEIZTEMDEERBN() 2005F 1 A& L4
B FFERE R ()E 200552 A 2B 2 5E
REFFFERENLE  SRERBAR BN -
FEEES WBRERDEZ KRG EF
RERMELNERER -

b. HEEFRAIZWBEREE - THHERERFRER
BRIHNSEERBNE2005F 1421418
FetiEhz  BHENEESERERNAER
SHERBNARRE ERAE -

¢ AEERNBEIRARKENEERBLERREM
REREEERFHHRFEM o SLEBERISO
13485:2003R FEMM —BHEAXHE &L
78,0008 LEFTAERERA - B AT - AEE
BAE IR ABEREB KT EAFEM - &
WHEBARARRNBTHESS -
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AEEEEERXBERNLE

The following is a comparison of actual business
progress to the business objectives as set out in the
prospectus of the Company dated 8 June 2004 (the
"Prospectus”).

Business objectives up to 30 June 2005 as set out in
the Prospectus:

BRERMBEZ2005F6A30BNEXBKEE

Strategic development

RERR

Seeking opportunities from SARS test
fie IF SR AL fi AR R B R g

Planning of worldwide campaign of test for Down’s
syndrome

AEEERERAERGAEANANEEED

Seeking opportunities to acquire third party diagnostic
technologies to complement the Group's research

capabilities
REAREENARE)  SKEAREUNME=FE
EEA-E 3

TREBEBERKERERATBEA2004F6A8HM
BRER((BRER]D MEHEENLE -

Actual business progress up to 30 June 2005:

EE200556A30BNEBRXKER :

Due to non-recurrence of SARS in Hong Kong and
very limited scale of SARS cases in the PRC, the Group did
not launch its SARS test

MRFFHEAFHRYEBETBER  METETELR
TEMIARFHAER - BN E B WAL IR AR

s

As explained under the paragraph headed “Business
development” in the section headed “Management
discussion and analysis”, the Group will seek to find newer
methodology of research in this test starting from the
second quarter of 2005, while continue to see whether
the older licences can still be refined enough to yield a
perfect test

HMEREAREON] - EBERE] &AM -
AEEBR2005FE _FHRSKUBARANBHHARS
%o MR ERREENFFEETBERRAERERR
EPRA R -

The process is ongoing, with no definite target is found
up to now
EREET HESUARETHRERR
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Forming strategic alliances with biotechnology
companies to carry out research into new testing
methodologies for detection of critical illnesses. Companies
in Hong Kong and the PRC will be the primary target for
such an alliance because exchange of information and
technologies would be easier

EAMMR R RARKEEE  stEIERERBOH
RIS ZRERR - B R BEMMME DA REKH R
WEIZERAR BRHRLBEYMBLAAERBRER] K
REE AT E

Leasing laboratory facilities in Australia and Japan for
offering the Group’s testing services. Technicians at these
laboratories will collect and deliver blood samples to the
Group's laboratory in Hong Kong for further handling.
Testing results will subsequently be delivered to the overseas
customers

PR R B AHEE(BRMRE - ARERE B AR
RS - WHELBANBRMABSREMNRER  LEXE
EANCBRMEE—SRE - AABRENERERRE
SNEE

Research and product development

MAREMBR

EBcombo test
ERiEN=N EES
- To continue the field testing and community research

EEEMARARAERIAR

Test for liver cancer
FF B
- To complete the field testing and community research

SERCE MR A R AL R AT 5T
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AEEREEREBERNLR

On 1 June 2005, the signing of an agreement with a
diagnostic pharmaceutical company for an alliance in the
diagnosis of cancer and heart disease in Hong Kong and
Macau

R20056 A1 - BE—HZERERNTRTHE 3
RE B NORPT 2 B R E KO B 48 PR B2

Preliminary marketing efforts show that it is impractical
to lease laboratory facilities until we have the FDA
registration

NFOTHEETERR  EASERERRENE
BRMNEHELIMA  EECRARER/L AT

Field testing has been completed and evaluation of
this test is being done at this moment
B EAR  MBRRERRERAETIGE

Field test and community research in the initial stage
was near completion. Due to practical difficulties of the
test, this test is now replaced by the HBV DNA test, HBeasy,
that has already been launched

NENEMBEA R ERRDEETK - AREETT
BAHTEEREREE - SR EAARC @Rl LAHBY
DNABIE HBeasyFT B A
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AEEEEERXBERNLE

Test for prostate cancer

A 51 A% 7 8

- To complete the laboratory and clinical testing Laboratory testing shows it is difficult and expensive
e 2 K bR K B to carry out the methylation specific polymerase chain

reaction (“PCR") test, which takes over 1 day to complete.
This test now is being replaced by simpler tests under
research such as prolactin and insulin like growth factors
TEARER  FEACLBRLREABREAREIAR
BET MAXARS - AT 1ANU L - AR IEH
RBEE  YHEEETHRENZERSAMRAK - flmfEd

HENEREERAERAT
- To start the field testing and community research The new tests are now under laboratory and clinical
RREMARA R RHE research

AR EZREET R R KGR

EBonco test
EBoncofll

- To complete the laboratory and clinical testing The test has completed the laboratory part of the
SEARAL B R IK A B research

BRAFAE TR RN CERABRHH

- To complete the field testing and community research Field testing will be under way in the first half of
SEARE I RE KA R 2006

#10 2006%F £+ 4 17 B ity Al 5

Screening test for cancer

BEES A
- To complete the laboratory and clinical testing Laboratory and clinical test is still in progress and we
TR R R R R have added new panels as mentioned in the paragraph
headed "Research and development” in the section headed
“Management discussion and analysis”
BIEETEERERAR  HN[EEEN®H RO
— R RER] —RAM - REEERRHNAE T
- To continue the field testing and community research The field testing of a panel of general screening tests
BEEHAH RARTR for cancer has begun, a version of the test in the research
format will be available to the public in the second quarter
of 2006

EHBZE-—REEESAANEISR ¥R
2006 —EMARIBEUFR AR ETHRE =
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EBsens test
EBsensiil &

- To complete the laboratory and clinical testing

e B KB R AR

Test for Down'’s syndrome

ER&ZAERR

- To complete the refinement of the test

TEREREEREA LA

Sales and marketing

HERTEER

By first establishing and set product standards in its
laboratory for the following tests and then market the tests
to the appropriate end users, such as doctors in the
specialised field, the Group will launch the testing services
as follows:—

FARTIAAMERERNEBECRIARLRETE
mIFE  WMEENKEERE (PIINENBE) HHLE
Bl - MASEBHELIARS  SFB0OT

Launch of SARS test to government agencies in Hong
Kong and the PRC if there is a SARS reoccurrence

MWIE AR ER - £F B K B A BT R IE
SR i 4RI,
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AEEREEREBERNLR

Laboratory and clinical testing is near its completion
and the test should be available in the first half of 2006

tERBRABREITK - THR20065 EFFRHEHR
T2 A

As explained under the paragraph headed “Business
development” in the section headed "“Management
discussion and analysis”, the Group will seek to find newer
methodology of research in this test starting from the
second quarter of 2005, while continue to see whether
the older licences can still be refined enough to yield a
perfect test

B ERENREAN] —BIARRER] —B&A
it R 2005F FE ZFRBSRULBMANEIARAE
MRERRERNTF LS BIEIRIAZERERBAR
AR

Due to non-recurrence of SARS in Hong Kong and
very limited scale of SARS cases in the PRC, the Group did
not launch its SARS test

RPN FFHRAFAYBEATBEER  MATETELR
TEMFFARAFHRER - BN E I B I A b AR
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Launch of EBgene test
e EBZER

- in PRC Marketing efforts will be delayed until the SFDA
R registration has been completed
MSHEEIERGTE EERAEREMREREE
ERREIXNAMEBEFETK AL

- inJapan Marketing efforts will be delayed until the FDA
NS =N registration has been completed
MEERIERETE BENRRENERRRER
9 T 11 BB 5 ST AR A UE
- in Australia Marketing efforts will be delayed until the FDA
A B registration has been completed
THEBEIERESLE EEMRMENERRRR
Y 3 1M B 5 ST AR A LE
Launch of EBeasy test
1 EBeasy I &,
- in PRC Marketing efforts will be delayed until the SFDA
R registration has been completed
MEEBEIERETE BEEMNBEXEmREnEE
ERBREXNEMBBE KR
- inJapan Marketing efforts will be delayed until the FDA
NS registration has been completed
MEERIERETE BENRRENERRRER
9 7 11 B8 5 ST AR A LE
- in Australia Marketing efforts will be delayed until the FDA
A B registration has been completed
THEBEIERESLE EEMNRMENERRRR
9 3 1M B 5 ST AR A LE
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AEEREEREBERNLR

Launch of EBcombo test
W EAE AR

- in PRC Marketing efforts will be delayed until the SFDA
R registration has been completed
MZHEEIERELE BEERMBERXAEmREREE
EEREXNAMBBZTX AL

- inJapan Marketing efforts will be delayed until the FDA
iNS=FN registration has been completed
MSEHEBEIFHETE BEERARMENERERRER
) T 11 B 5 ST AR A LE
- in Australia Marketing efforts will be delayed until the FDA
A M registration has been completed
MSHEETERSTE EZMNRMENERRRER
Y TE 1M B 5E ST AR A LE

Launch of sensitive test for NPC

HE 5 TR R R R

- in Hong Kong Marketing efforts will be delayed until the second half
REE of 2006
MSEHEETIHERGITE BEE20065 T+F

Launch of liver cancer

Al

- in Hong Kong The original liver cancer test done by methylation
BB specific PCR, a difficult and expensive test, will now be
replaced by the HBV DNA test, HBeasy, for monitoring of

hepatitis B patients prone to the development of liver cancer

REANFECHEUBTABEARE (R —RREET

BRAEHEBR) ETHFRAR - HEFEE HHBY DNA

RIS HBeasy B » #& A & Z BT A m AMERI AT E 51 35 HY

- inPRC Marketing efforts will be delayed until the SFDA
i registration has been completed for the HBeasy

MEEETERSITE  EEHHBeasyABERR MR
EnEERERRRMNEMBEFTAAL

- inJapan Since October/November 2004, marketing efforts have
NN been made in Japan with end users. However, no sales was
recorded up to now
BH2004F 1011 AFKR - ER A AMREEREETTH
GBI AT - 25U BBEFBHE
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Launch of EBonco test

HE H EBoncoBl 3

- in Hong Kong The test will undergo community research in the first
REE half of 2006
R2006F F+¥FHERRBAAETHRIFAR

- in PRC The launch of EBonco will be delayed until we have
R success in the Hong Kong marker

&It HEBonco - EEBBHNERMEMRY

Launch of EBsens test

1 H EBsens Bl

- in Hong Kong Marketing will begin in the second half of 2006
REB 20065 THFHERREANANETTHIERE

- inPRC Marketing efforts will be delayed until the SFDA
i registration for EBgene has been completed to pave the

way for this new but similar test

THSEBEIIERSILE BEEMBERNERRmNE
mEEEEREINEMBBFTK AL - BARZIEHIE
ERELE R EER

- in Australia Marketing efforts will be delayed until the FDA
AR registration for EBgene has been completed to pave the
way for this new but similar test
MGHETIERSIEE  EENMBENRDENERE
RREXHEMEAFTK AL - BUASEFILERBEUD
AR EREE

- inJapan Marketing efforts will be delayed until the FDA
JINI=R registration for EBgene has been completed to pave the
way for this new but similar test
MSHEETIERGILE EENBEARMENER
BRIXNEMBFTR AL - #EARRENEERECLD
B EERE
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Launch of test for pleural effusion

i A 7R

- in Hong Kong

Launch of test for organ transplant failure, trauma and
stroke

RB|EBEKXR - BERFRETHH

- in Hong Kong

- inJapan

RAER

- in Australia and to appoint hospitals and laboratories
as sub-licensees

BN RREERECRAABRIFAIHEAA
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AEEREEREBERNLR

During late June 2004 to end of 2004, marketing
efforts have been made for these tests in Hong Kong and
no sale was made. Licence agreement was terminated in
January 2005

200456 AR E2004F K - EEARRFURANER
ETTISERE TR - W ARAEAEHE o 1200561 AL I
Rt

During late June 2004 to end of 2004, marketing
efforts have been made for these tests in Hong Kong and
no sale was made. Licence agreement was terminated in
January 2005

200456 R E2004F K - EEARRFURANER
ETTHISHERE T - W ARFEAHE o 1200561 AL IE
Rt

During late July 2004 to end of 2004, marketing efforts
have been made in Japan with end users and no sale was
made. Licence agreement was terminated in January 2005

R2004F7AEE20045 K - EERULFUHR AR
ASREREEATSEREIE I REGEMES - B
2005 1 AR IEH AP 25 -

During late July 2004 to end of 2004, marketing efforts
have been made in Australia with end users and no sale
was made. Licence agreement was terminated in January
2005

R2004F7 AR E 20045 K B &I 58 S0 RN
RSREREETTSEEIE  HXREETMHEE - »
2005F 1 AR IERF it e -




ANNUAL RepORT 2005 = 3

BUSINESS OBJECTIVES AND ACTUAL BUSINESS PROGRESS COMPARISON
AEEEEERXBERNLE

Launch of test for beta HCG
H B HCGHI

- in Hong Kong Since late June 2004, marketing efforts have been
K& & made for these tests in Hong Kong. However, no sales of
these research kits up to date even there were preliminary
and promising discussions with some end users
B2004F6 AEME - EEBBRUFAFETTISHE
BI(E - RSN REREETNIERLRGES
MEBMER AN 25 EMREERLBEGHE

Launch of test for HPL
#HHPL B

- in Hong Kong Since late June 2004, marketing efforts have been
REE made for these tests in Hong Kong. However, no sales of
these research kits up to date even there were preliminary
and promising discussions with some end users
H2004F6 AR EEBBRUF RGBTSR
BIE- - BIREFHZREREETONIEBRIRES
MERNGER AN LSRFRREZTEBFEHEE

Launch of test for stomach cancer

HEH BRI S
- in Japan Since late July 2004, marketing efforts have been made
JINI=RN in Japan with end users. However, no sales was recorded

up to now
B2004F7AERY - BEBARRAGEEREETTS
HEIE AW C5UESREHE

Launch of foetal sex test for X-linked diseases

1t A e B PR E R S O A B HE IR L

- in Hong Kong The foetal sex test for X-linked diseases was delayed
K& due to the ethical reason of sex selection
EREENRNERERE WS EERRBELER
mEA RS M BRI

- inJapan Since October/November 2004, marketing efforts have
REXR been made in Japan with end users. However, no sales was
recorded up to now
B2004F 1011 AF  ERAARREEREETH
GBI AM - 25T REGEHE
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Launch of EBgastric test
HE i EBgastricl 3

- in Hong Kong
nEE

Launch of test for Down’s syndrome

HHER&SENH

- in Hong Kong
RE®R

- in PRC
A E

- inJapan

IS

Launch the screening test for the cancer potential of
patients harbouring EBV reactivations

RAEKEB PBRENRA BRI BEERNEBY) i1
LTEA

- in Hong Kong
REB

Provide easy access for its customers to order the
Group's testing services through the Internet and for delivery
of blood specimens to its laboratory in Hong Kong by the
Group's website

EROMARAEERE  METREEERENS
@ UEATBAEENASREREAZNAREEAEREE
LR A BB AT
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AEEREEREBERNLR

The target of EBgastric will be replaced by a general
screening test panel based on the use of pepsinogen | and
Gastrin 17 which are now under laboratory and clinical
research

#E1TEBgastricAIF K B 1R - BEl —REE MR ERN
BR - ZAEDANBEEABR I KBEHR17(REETL
SR LEATR) TR

As explained under the paragraph headed “Business
development” in the section headed "Management
discussion and analysis”, the Group will seek to find newer
methodology of research in this test starting from the
second quarter of 2005, while continue to see whether
the older licences can still be refined enough to yield a
perfect test

BERE RO — & [ RBER] - -
KI20055 % — TSR AANOERAETE MR
ERRERNSAEED BIFRR A EHEE BB HA
e

Since October/November 2004, marketing efforts have
been made in PRC with end users. However, no sales was
recorded up to now

B2004510/11 ARG - ERFERMEREREETT
SHEBTIE AWM 25T ERBHEE

Since October/November 2004, marketing efforts have
been made in Japan with end users. However, no sales was
recorded up to now

BH2004F 1011 AR - ERAARMREEREETTH
BHEIE AW 250 EREEHEE

The use of such a screening test will await the final
results of the clinical testing of EBonco in the first half of
2006

R 2006%F ¥ FE{E FBoncof® R AIA MR GEF
% meERMZELTEANH

At this moment, customers in Hong Kong have been
catered to by the use of our daily collection and delivery
service. For more international targets, marketing efforts
will be delayed until the FDA registration for EBgene has
been completed to pave the way for a worldwide
recognition of the product

FREBAEERENBEAREREARRY  RES
BEENTE - EREMBRTSIE - miHEREIES
QB EEMRBEMMARRENERRRINIMAE
TRABILE  RUARERFRE2ANEEMIELER
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ESEREREEE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr. Yeung Wah Hin, Alex, aged 58, is the Chairman and the
Chief Executive Officer of the Company as well as the founder of
the Group. Dr. Yeung graduated from the University of Hong Kong
in June 1970 and holds a bachelor degree in medicine and surgery.
He continued his post-graduate medical training at the University of
Southern Florida in the United States from 1971 to 1974. Following
his tumour immunology fellowship training at The Public Hospital,
University of California, the United States between 1975 and 1976,
he worked as medical director for several years, specialising in the
field of clinical immunology before moving into private practice in
Irvine, California, the United States. From 1987 to 1995, Dr. Yeung
served as the medical director for a Hong Kong company and a
United States company. In 1996, Dr. Yeung was the biotechnology
consultant to a consortium of investors in Asia relating to an
investment in a company that produced an anti-cancer drug. Since
1999, Dr. Yeung had advised in the capacity as a director of a Hong
Kong company on the establishment and management of a cyclotron
and PET scanning facility at two private hospitals in Hong Kong. Dr.
Yeung founded the Group in January 2001 and now is responsible
for directing the Group’s overall business, research and development
strategies. Dr. Yeung together with Mrs. Yeung Tsui Mai Ling,
Margaret (spouse of Dr. Yeung and also a Director) has been the
substantial and initial management shareholders of the Company.

Mr. Cheng Yan Tak, Angus Ronald, aged 44, is the chief
financial officer and compliance officer of the Group. Mr. Cheng
graduated from the Chinese University with bachelor degree in
business administration. Mr. Cheng has extensive experience in
international investments and has held various positions in
international financial institutions. Mr. Cheng is responsible for
overseeing the Group's financial management. Mr. Cheng joined
the Group on 15 July 2002 and has an indirect shareholding interest
in the Group through Vanbarry Corporation. Mr. Cheng has been
one of the initial management shareholders of the Company.
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Mr. Cho Kam Luk, aged 70, is a former executive director of
Town Health, a company listed on the GEM and the father of Dr.
Cho Kwai Chee, the Chief Executive Officer of Town Health. Mr.
Cho has over 40 years of experience in interior design, decoration
and general management. Mr. Cho's experience as a director of a
medical company strengthens the Group’s business knowledge on
the clinical aspects of the Group’s products and services. Mr. Cho's
advice plays an important role in the practical interactions of the
Group's products with the physicians. Mr. Cho has also actively
participated in community activities and is currently serving as a
director of Hong Kong Commerce and Industry Associations Limited,
a treasurer of Hong Kong Shatin Industries and Commerce
Association Limited, a consultant to Shatin Junior Police Call Farm
and the vice-chairman of Shatin Livelihood Concern Group. Mr. Cho
joined the Group on 8 August 2002. Town Health has been one of
the substantial and initial management shareholders of the Company.

Mrs. Yeung Tsui Mai Ling, Margaret, aged 48, is the wife of
Dr. Yeung. Mrs. Yeung has over fourteen years of experience in the
medical business. Mrs. Yeung is responsible for the marketing and
administration of the Group. Mrs. Yeung has also been actively
involved in charity activities in Hong Kong. Mrs. Yeung joined the
Group on 22 August 2002. Mrs. Yeung together with Dr. Yeung
(spouse of Mrs. Yeung and also a Director) has been the substantial
and initial management shareholders of the Company.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Lau Kam Shan, aged 50, has been engaged in the business
of retail clothing in the PRC and the export of fabric from the PRC
to the United States. Mr. Lau has extensive experience in textile
business and general trading and is currently a director of Yi Feng
Enterprises Limited. Mr. Lau was appointed as non-executive Director
on 8 August 2002.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr. Ngan Man Wong, Matthew, aged 65, obtained an honours
degree in medicine and surgery from the University of New South
Wales of Australia in February 1972 and a diploma in diagnostic
radiology from Sydney University of Australia in February 1999. Dr.
Ngan has been a registered specialist radiologist in Australia for the
past 20 years and is the chief executive officer of Sonic Healthcare
Asia Limited. Dr. Ngan was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director on 8 August 2002.
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ESEREREEE

Professor Chung Sheung Chee, Sydney, aged 50, obtained
various qualifications including MB BCh., BAO(N.U.I.), MD(CUHK),
FRCSEd., FRCSGlas., FRCPEd., LRCP&SI, FHKAM(Surgery) and FCSHK.
Professor Chung has extensive experience in healthcare industry and
held a number of senior positions with various professional
organisations. He was the Dean of the Faculty of Medicine and
professor of surgery of the Chinese University until 30 June 2004
and was the director of Endoscopy Centre of the Prince of Wales
Hospital until 30 September 2003. Professor Chung was appointed
as an independent non-executive Director from 8 August 2002.
Professor Chung resigned as Director on 2 July 2004 to pursue his
new career.

Dr. Loh Kai Tsu, Kevin, aged 59, graduated from the medical
school of the University of Hong Kong and holds the bachelor of
medicine and bachelor of surgery. Dr. Loh is now a member of
Medical Council of Hong Kong in Hong Kong and American Society
of Clinical Oncology in the United States. Since 1987, Dr. Loh has
served as the medical director for Cancer Institute of Queen’s Medical
Centre in Honolulu, Hawaii, the United States. Following his medical
oncology and haematology fellowship training at the M.D. Anderson
Hospital & Tumor Institute of the University of Texas at Houston, the
United States during the period from 1 July 1972 to 31 December
1974, Dr. Loh worked as an associate director of Cancer Research
Centre of Hawaii, Honolulu, Hawaii, the United States. Dr. Loh was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 8 August
2002.

Mr. Chan Siu Wing, Raymond, aged 40, obtained a bachelor
degree in economics from University of Sydney and is qualified as a
certified practicing accountant in Australia and Macau. Mr. Chan is
also an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and a full member of the Hong Kong Securities
Institute. He has extensive experience in accounting, taxation and
business advisory. Mr. Chan was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director on 9 March 2004.

Mr. Chan Po Kwong, aged 49, is a merchant for the past
twenty years. He has been engaging in real estates business in
Hong Kong and overseas. He has worked in key executive positions
in different trades, services including retail and wholesale of
importing products for Hong Kong, Asian countries and Mainland
China. Mr. Chan is a director of various companies with extensive
experience in business restructuring, corporate financing and
investments. He was also a former promoter for South China
Industrial Inc. of Canada in 1993. Mr. Chan was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 1 December 2004.
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EFERERELEE

SENIOR MANAGEMENT BREEE

Ms. Wong Suet Sum, joined the Group in August 2001 as the HEOZLTM2001F8 A MNBA K B ETHL
administration manager of the Group. She was an administration oo A1999F 12 B 2 2001F8F B ST R {#
officer of Healthcare organisation during the period from December HER T ET -

1999 to August 2001.

Ms. Leung Kwan Yu, is the financial controller, the company PEHMLZLTAERNRFERAE  NalEF
secretary and the qualified accountant of the Company who is SERGHA BEASENVBHEEEERR
responsible for the financial and accounting management and WMEEK -EREEARTALEE  BFESHE
secretarial affairs of the Group. Ms. Leung graduated from City BB - 2T RELSHMASSEREH
University of Hong Kong with a bachelor of degree in accountancy. B LAREAMAGEREE - LT R2002F
She is an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified TAMBERSEH -

Public Accountants and a fellow member of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants, the United Kingdom. Ms. Leung
joined the Group in July 2002.
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The Directors present their annual report and the audited
financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2005.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND SEGMENTAL ANALYSIS OF
OPERATIONS

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
The activities of the subsidiaries are set out in note 15 to the financial
statements.

An analysis of the Group's operations for the year by business
activities is set out in note 29 to the financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS
The results of the Group for the year are set out in the audited
consolidated income statement on page 50 of this annual report.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend in
respect of the year ended 30 June 2005.

RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group and Company during
the year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and note 23 to the financial statements on pages 53 and 81
respectively of this annual report.

DONATIONS
The Group has not made charitable and other donations during
the year.

PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Details of the movements in plant and equipment of the Group
are set out in note 14 to the financial statements.

SUBSIDIARIES
Details of the Company’s subsidiaries are set out in note 15 to
the financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL
Details of the movements in share capital of the Group and
Company are set out in note 22 to the financial statements.
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CONVERTIBLE NOTES

The Company issued the convertible notes (the “Convertible
Notes”) in an aggregate principal amount of HK$21.5 million in
December 2002. The Convertible Notes have been converted into
shares of the Company in three stages: (1) the conversion of 30%
of the aggregate nominal value of the Convertible Notes into
25,800,000 ordinary shares on 17 June 2004 (the "Pre IPO
Conversion”); (2) the conversion of 40% of the aggregate nominal
value of the Convertible Notes into 34,400,000 ordinary shares on
18 December 2004 (the “First Post IPO Conversion”); and (3) the
conversion of remaining 30% of the aggregate nominal value of
the Convertible Notes into 25,800,000 ordinary shares on 18 June
2005 (the "Second Post IPO Conversion”). Conversion price was
fixed at HK$0.25 per share which is 50% of the share price in the
Company’s initial public offer.

Further details of the Convertible Notes are set out in the note
20 to the financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Articles of Association or the laws of Cayman Islands, which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to
existing shareholders.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last four financial years is set out on page 96 of this
annual report.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF SHARES BE HEIEEKRHG

During the year ended 30 June 2005, the Company repurchased A200566 A30B IEFER - RABRBIER

its own shares on GEM as follows: BEAERSGROHZFBET
Number of Aggregate
Month of shares Price per share consideration
repurchase repurchased Highest Lowest paid
Em BRER BExfiz
B E R 7 vl ¢! BS Bi& BRE
HK$ HK$ HKS$
B BT B

February 2005 20052 A 832,000 0.240 0.238 200,465

March 2005 20053 A 3,000,000 0.241 0.228 721,581

June 2005 20056 A 1,092,000 0.220 0.219 241,358

Total Bt 4,924,000 1,163,404

The above shares were cancelled upon repurchases and PO ERERRKETHE B ARRZ
accordingly the issued share capital of the Company was reduced BERETRABRIESRG < ZEER D 49,2408
by the par value of these shares amounted to HK$49,240. An Lo —ERFREBERNE Z2EES D RER
aggregate amount of HK$1,114,164 equivalent to the premium CRAET 2 EEI 41648 TEER M GBERSD
portion and brokerage expenses payable on the repurchases was iy -
charged against the share premium account.

The Directors have regard to the market price of the Company’s EELERNBORMEARARMN 2™
shares at the times of the repurchases and considered that the B URBEMBEMGTEARARMETE - Bt
Company’s shares were undervalued in the market, so that it was ARNARNBEEREABELDE TROUAZIFERE -
the appropriate time to repurchase certain shares of the Company
in order to support its share prices.

Apart from the repurchases of shares as disclosed above, neither Br EXHR 2 BERMDIN - EEE200556H
the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed 30BIEFEERN - AD A EFERMNE D AR ER
any of the Company’s shares listed on GEM during the year ended BIXREE  HESEOARRR 2 M LETRS

30 June 2005 (2004: Nil). (20045 : fE) ©
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SHARE OPTIONS i IR A

1. Share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”) was adopted 1. BREE ([BREFTE]) AERRERZ
by the then shareholders of the Company on 20 April 2004. PR AN 2004F 4 F20 B 54 - BEARIERT S 2 5
Details of the Share Option Scheme are set out in note 27(a) to BENTBHREME27()

the financial statements.

No option has been granted under the Share Option Scheme BIEBERE B EE £2004F6A30R LFE
during the year ended 30 June 2004. MR B AR o

Movements of share options under the Share Option Scheme RIEEREE - B Z2005F6A308 LFE
for the year ended 30 June 2005 are as follows: ERENZHFENT

Number of underlying shares in respect of which share options were granted

BREBRESR 2HBRGHE
Exercised/
Date of  Outstanding Cancelled/ Outstanding  Exercise
Name of director grant  at 1/07/2004 Granted Lapsed  at 30/06/2005 price
R20045 B%/ R2005%
7H1R B#E/ 6A30R
EEpg BHAH R ATHE BRI BAM WRTE  HE
HK$
B
Dr. Yeung Wah Hin, Alex REBRE 20/06/2005 - 2,222,209 - 2,222,222 0.225
Mr. Cheng Yan Tak, Angus Ronald gREsst 20/06/2005 - 669,711¢ - 669,711 0.225
Mrs. Yeung Tsui Mai Ling, Margaret BRERRT 20/06/2005 - e - 1,111,111 0.225
Mr. Cho Kam Luk EolERAE 20/06/2005 - e - 711111 0.225
Mr. Lau Kam Shan HEalEES 20/06/2005 - e - 711111 0.225
Dr. Ngan Man Wong, Matthew BEXEBE 20/06/2005 - 1,333,3330 - 1,333,333 0.225
Dr. Loh Kai Tsu, Kevin EEE 20/06/2005 - 1,333,3330 - 1,333,333 0.225
Mr. Chan Siu Wing, Raymond BKEEE 20/06/2005 - 1,333,3330 - 1,333,333 0.225
Total ait - 10,225,265 - 10,225,265
Notes: et -
(a) The share options are exercisable at any time for a period of three (a) BEREATRELBBE =FHRNEMER
years from the date of grant. 17 -
(b) The share options are exercisable at any time for a period of ten (b) EREATAED BB TFHRRNE AR
years from the date of grant. 17 -
(c) The closing price of the shares of the Company immediately before (0 E#2005F6H20R (BRERED AEAAR
20 June 2005 on which the options were granted was HK$0.225. ARG 2 W ER0.2258 T ©
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2. Pursuant to an agreement entered into by the Company with
the Chinese University on 8 August 2002 relating to the grant
of a right of first refusal to the Company by the Chinese
University in respect of certain technology and inventions, as
amended and supplemented by agreements dated 31 October
2003 and 16 April 2004 (the "Right of First Refusal
Agreement”), share options would be granted to the Chinese
University over the period of the term of such agreements of
four years commencing from 18 June 2004. Details of the
agreements are set out in note 27(b) to the financial statements.

No option has been granted to the Chinese University under
the Right of First Refusal Agreement during the year ended 30
June 2004.

On 28 June 2005, share option of 4,484,305 shares was granted
to the Chinese University with exercise period from 28 December
2005 to 27 June 2010 and exercise price at HK$0.223. The
closing price of the shares of the Company immediately before
28 June 2005 on which the options were granted was HK$0.223.

The Directors consider it is inappropriate to value the share
options granted under the Share Option Scheme and the Right of
First Refusal Agreement as a number of factors critical for the
valuation cannot be determined accurately. Any valuation of the
share options based on various speculative assumptions would be
meaningless and misleading. Therefore the Directors believe that
the costs for disclosing the value of share options do not justify the
benefits provided at this stage.
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DIRECTORS
The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report
were:

Dr. Yeung Wah Hin, Alex

Mr. Cheng Yan Tak, Angus Ronald
Mr. Cho Kam Luk

Mrs. Yeung Tsui Mai Ling, Margaret
Mr. Lau Kam Shan*

Dr. Ngan Man Wong, Matthew**
Professor Chung Sheung Chee, Sydney**
(resigned on 2 July 2004)

Dr. Loh Kai Tsu, Kevin**

Mr. Chan Siu Wing, Raymond**
Mr. Chan Po Kwong**

(appointed on 1 December 2004)

*  Non-executive Director

** Independent non-executive Directors

In accordance with Article 95, Mr. Chan Po Kwong who was
appointed as independent non-executive Director by the Board on 1
December 2004, shall retire from office at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company (the “2005 Annual General
Meeting”). Mr. Chan Po Kwong, being eligible, offers himself for
re-election as independent non-executive Director at the 2005 Annual
General Meeting.

In accordance with Article 112 of the Company’s Articles of
Association, one-third of the Directors for the time being, other
than a Director holding office as managing Director, shall retire at
each annual general meeting and shall then be eligible for re-election
at the meeting.

Accordingly, Mr. Cho Kam Luk and Dr. Loh Kai Tsu, Kevin will
retire at the 2005 Annual General Meeting. Mr. Cho Kam Luk,
being eligible, offers himself for re-election as executive Director.
Dr. Loh Kai Tsu, Kevin will not offer himself for re-election as
independent non-executive Director.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Dr. Yeung Wah Hin, Alex, has entered into a service contract
with the Company with a term of 3 years commencing on the
Listing Date and shall continue thereafter until terminated by either
party giving to the other not less than three months’ prior written
notice. Each of other executive Directors, namely Mr. Cheng Yan
Tak, Angus Ronald, Mr. Cho Kam Luk and Mrs. Yeung Tsui Mai Ling,
Margaret has entered into a service contract with the Company
with a term of 2 years commencing on the Listing Date and shall
continue thereafter until terminated by either party giving to the
other not less than three months’ prior written notice.

Mr. Lau Kam Shan, the non-executive Director, Dr. Ngan Man
Wong, Matthew, Dr. Loh Kai Tsu, Kevin and Mr. Chan Siu Wing,
Raymond, the independent non-executive Directors has entered into
a service contract with the Company with effect from the Listing
Date until the Company’s annual general meeting in 2005.

Mr. Chan Po Kwong, has been appointed as an independent
non-executive Director for a term of 2 years expiring on 30 November
2006. The appointment is subject to retirement by rotation and
other related provisions as stipulated in the Articles of Association
of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, no Director for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract with the
Company which is not determinable by the Company within one
year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.
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DIRECTORS’" AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS IN
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 30 June 2005, the interests of the Directors and chief
executive of the Company in the shares and underlying shares of
the Company or its associated corporations (within the meanings of
Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO")) which
were notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
(a) Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of SFO (including interests and short
position which they were taken or deemed to have under such
provisions of SFO); or (b) which were required, pursuant to Sections
352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to in that
section; or (c) which were required, pursuant to Rules 5.48 to 5.67
of the GEM Listing Rules, to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange were as follows:

Long positions in ordinary shares of the Company:

EENERTRABRKRO RAEBRKR G HE

M2005F6A30H * ARRSEE LB MRITH
AEBRARBSEEB LB (CEREHFRBEE
Bl ([BHEREBEEH]) EXV ) 2B H RBER
MHRBEARE @) BEFRBEEMEXVEE T X
FoNH (BREEEREELFLBERINEBIK
N EER G AEANER AR MAME A
NAEIRBRATHER - 3 (b) REEFRHBER
535218 BB MR ZIEFT A B L MANEE
ok (o) RIBRIZER MR AE5.48E E5.6718 21K
TAMERRAR KB ERM T -

ARBNEBRBMD R

Number of shares held, capacity and nature of interests
FEROBE - SHREGKE

Percentage of

the Company’s

Directly Through issued share
beneficially a controlled capital
owned Through  corporation HRAR

Name of Directors Notes B spouse B Total EBEFTRX

Espg firzt ER#ES FBEE REHAF it Ak

Dr. Yeung Wah Hin, Alex GERE 1 2,368,454 119,170,370 - 121,538,824 31.73%

Mrs. Yeung Tsui Mai Ling, Margaret BRERLT 2 119,170,370 2,368,454 - 121,538,824 31.73%

Mr. Cheng Yan Tak, Angus Ronald gRErE 3 - - 12,574,648 12,574,648 3.28%

Notes: Mzt -

1. Under the SFO, Dr. Yeung Wah Hin, Alex will be deemed to be 1. BEELFLBEKD BERBLESEHAAR
interested in the 119,170,370 shares, representing 31.11% of the HEARBHEGRERZLT (HTRES)HAMN
issued share capital of the Company held by Mrs. Yeung Tsui Mai 119,170,370 M R B #EE - ZSRH G
Ling, Margaret, his spouse and also a Director. RAFEETRA3T.11% °

2. Under the SFO, Mrs. Yeung Tsui Mai Ling, Margaret will be deemed 2. WEBHFRBEGRD  BRERLLEHERS
to be interested in the 2,368,454 shares, representing 0.62% of REERBHEERBE (NARES)FEN
the issued share capital of the Company held by Dr. Yeung Wah 2,368,454 HEE R - ZERMEAR
Hin, Alex, her spouse and also a Director. RAIDHEITRA0.62% °

3. 12,574,648 shares were held by Vanbarry Corporaton, representing 3. #%12,574,648% 1% 1 g3 Vanbarry Corporation

BE AR ARR200556A308 M BHTHR
173.28% ° Vanbarry Corporation i 25 B {2 5 4
2EER -

3.28% of the Company’s shares in issue as at 30 June 2005.
Vanbarry Corporation is wholly owned by Mr. Cheng Yan Tak,
Angus Ronald.
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Saved as disclosed above and share options granted to the
Directors as disclosed under the paragraph headed “Share options”
in this Report of the Directors, none of the Directors, the chief
executive of the Company, nor their associates had any interests or
short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company
or any of its associated corporations as at 30 June 2005 as recorded
in the register required to be kept by the Company under section
352 of the SFO.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES

At 30 June 2005, the following interests of 5% or more of the
issued share capital and underlying shares of the Company were
recorded in the register of interests required to be kept by the
Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO:

Long positions in ordinary shares of the Company:

BEXABEERBUNAEEERENBR
] —BAREESI - R200546A308 © KA A
EEENRBITRABRBENHEALHER
A B ol E A AR B = B M) AR 19 S AR BE IR 10 P
BRBESN S G0 E35206 85 TN %I

VERMANTAESSAE o

FTERRRROREBROHESR

20056 6A308 * L TNAREREFLPE
1B E 336 EARRBRTFHOER S LM A
EARRRIE BT AKABBADS5% A LA

N
A

I
ARRAMLBBBG A -
Number of shares held, capacity and nature of interests

FERABA - SHRMBELR

Percentage of

the Company’s

Directly Through issued share

beneficially a controlled capital

owned Through  corporation x4 7

Name of shareholders Notes HE spouse Z8 Total BRTRX

BREE firzt Riks FARG ZRHAR At Aft

Dr. Yeung Wah Hin, Alex HERBE 1 2,368,454 119,170,370 - 121,538,824 31.73%

Mrs. Yeung Tsui Mai Ling, Margaret ~ B#ER &L 1 119,170,370 2,368,454 - 121,538,824 31.73%

Spring Biotech Limited Spring Biotech Limited 2 74,995,524 - - 74,995,524 19.58%
Town Health Bio-Medical REBEENRR

Technology Limited ARAA 2 - - 74995524 74,995,524 19.58%

Town Health International Holdings FRERZR

Company Limited ("Town Health”) BRAE([RE]) 283 - - 74995524 74,995,524 19.58%

Broad Idea International Limited Broad Idea International Limited 3 - - 74,995,524 74,995,524 19.58%

Dr. Cho Kwai Chee EETEAE 3 - - 74995524 74,995,524 19.58%

Dr. Choi Chee Ming, Francis EEHEL 3 - - 74995524 74,995,524 19.58%

The Applied Research Council The Applied Research Council 46,596,000 - - 46,596,000 12.16%
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Notes:

1. Dr. Yeung Wah Hin, Alex and Mrs. Yeung Tsui Mai Ling, Margaret
are also Directors of the Company.

2. Spring Biotech Limited is beneficially wholly owned by Town Health
Bio-Medical Technology Limited which in turn beneficially wholly
owned by Town Health.

3. Town Health is a company whose shares listed on GEM. As at the
date of this report, Town Health is beneficially owned as to
approximately 51.0% by Broad Idea International Limited. Broad
Idea International Limited is beneficially owned as to 50.1% by
Dr. Cho Kwai Chee and as to 49.9% by Dr. Choi Chee Ming,
Francis. Mr. Cho Kam Luk (the father of Dr. Cho Kwai Chee), an
executive Director of the Company, directly beneficially owns
0.03% of Town Health.

Saved as disclosed above and share options granted to Dr. Yeung
Wah Hin, Alex, Mrs. Yeung Tsui Mai Ling, Margaret and Mr. Cho
Kam Luk under the paragraph headed “Share options” in this Report
of the Directors, the Company has not been notified by any person
(other than Directors or chief executive of the Company) who had
an interest or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of
the Company as at 30 June 2005 as recorded in the register required
to be kept by the Company under section 336 of the SFO.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year ended 30 June 2005, the Group’s sales to its
five largest customers and the largest customer were 39.59% and
14.51% of the total sales respectively. The Group’s purchases from
its five largest suppliers and the largest supplier were 70.48% and
26.60% of the total purchases respectively.

One of the Group's five largest customers for the year ended
30 June 2005 was Spring Biotech Limited which is also a substantial
shareholder of the Company. Details of Spring Biotech Limited was
disclosed under the paragraph headed “Substantial shareholders’
interests in shares and underlying shares” in this Report of the
Directors.

Saved as disclosed above, none of the Directors or any of their
associates or any shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the
Directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital)
had any beneficial interest in the Group’s five largest customers and
suppliers.
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COMPETING INTERESTS

None of the Directors or the management shareholders or
controlling shareholders of the Company (as defined in the GEM
Listing Rules) have any interest in a business which competes or
may compete with the business of the Group during the year.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(a) Significant related party transactions entered into by the Group
during the year ended 30 June 2005 are set out in note 24 to
the financial statements.

(b) The following transaction constitute non-exempted continuing
connected transactions for the Company under the GEM Listing
Rules and are required to be disclosed herein:

(i)

An agreement dated 23 April 2002 and supplemental
agreement dated 7 August 2002 were entered into between
Plasmagene Limited (an indirectly wholly owned subsidiary
of the Company) and Spring Biotech Limited (a shareholder
of the Company) under which Plasmagene Limited agreed
to offer diagnostic testing services to Town Health, the
ultimate holding company of Spring Biotech Limited, or
any of its subsidiaries (the “Town Health Group”) under
the community research programme jointly run by
Plasmagene Limited and Town Health Group. Mr. Cho Kam
Luk, the executive Director, was also a former executive
director of Town Health and holds 0.03% issued share
capital of Town Health as of the date of this annual report.

For the year ended 30 June 2004, the diagnostic testing
services fees received from Spring Biotech Limited was
HK$771,975. A waiver from the announcement requirement
and the independent shareholders’ approval requirement
was granted by the Stock Exchange and such connected
transactions are conducted in compliance with the relevant
requirements under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.
The community research programme was continued in a
limited scale in early July 2004 and HK$48,245 was received
for the year ended 30 June 2005. Details are set out in
note 24(a) to the financial statements.
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(i) A renewal of sub-tenancy agreement dated 25 April 2005
was entered into between the Company and Wellchamp
Capital Limited (“Wellchamp”) for the sharing of office for
the period from 13 February 2005 to 12 February 2007
with the monthly rental of HK$29,500. Other terms are
remained the same with the previous tenancy agreement
signed. Wellchamp is owned as to 97.6% by Mr. Cheng
Yan Tak, Angus Ronald, an executive Director and an
ultimate shareholder of the Company.

For the year ended 30 June 2005, the net rental and utility
charges received from Wellchamp was HK$331,060 (2004:
HK$310,700). Details are set out in note 24(b) to the
financial statements.

This continuing connected transaction is exempted under
Rule 20.34 of the GEM Listing Rules from the independent
shareholders’ approval requirement, but is subject to the
announcement and report requirements as set out in Rules
20.45 to 20.47 of the GEM Listing Rules.

The Directors, including the non-executive and independent non-
executive Directors, consider that the above connected transactions
were entered into in the interests of the Company, in its ordinary
and usual course of business, and that the terms of the transactions
are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the shareholders of
the Company as a whole.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Saved as disclosed under the heading “Directors’ and chief
executive's interests in shares and underlying shares” and the
paragraph headed “Share options” in this Report of the Directors
and “Share options” in note 27 to the financial statements, at no
time during the year were rights to acquire benefits by means of
the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company granted
to any Director or their respective spouse or minor children, or were
any such rights exercised by them; or was the Company or any of
its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors
to acquire such rights in any other body corporate.

ERERNEYMBEERLA PLASMAGENE BIOSCIENCES LIMITED 45

(i) A2 B £ Wellchamp Capital Limited
(TWellchamp]) 200544325 B & & 7
—IEHMBE - LLA2005F2A138EE
20072 A A EHEBRHAE - AF
£29,500/8 7T - AR ELRIE L 2
AEREEHTE - Wellchampi A 2 7]
HTEERGRBREDEEREREE
97. 6% HE °

B Z 20054 6A30BIEFE - B
Wellchampli B & FRERKEE R
331,060 7t (20044F : 310,700 7T) °
BEBRFHBEHRIBREME240) °

GREEHERHBREBEAER ETHRAE
203415 E B8 ST RS B M IR AL A R
BT - EBETAIER ETARBIE20.45
BEE20476MEN A HRBRFT -

AEF BEFRITFRBTHATES)
REERBERSHAADARBERAATE
R BEBBERET  MEERH0ERE
ATAE  BHAKAAREOBEF -

ESREROKRESNER

BRAEZEHRENEZRSRTRABRK
D RAMRDOER] —8  FAEESRSBEK
B —B R BRRME2760 [RE A  — B E
O REAEAERE TEXTEANESLR
FEENEBIARFTRAEBEBERLAIR
DREFMESNEN  MEFHETETMZ
LR R NABSRELENEDQRABER]
MEMZE REEFARTAEMEIEESK
SR -




ANNUAL RepORT 2005 = 3

REPORT OF THEDIRECTORS £ = & ® &

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN CONTRACTS

Saved as disclosed in note 24 to the financial statements, no
other contract of significance to which the Company or its
subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the
year or at any time during the year.

SPONSOR’S INTEREST

As notified by First Shanghai Capital Limited (the “Sponsor”),
neither the Sponsor nor its directors, employees or associates (as
referred to in Note 3 to Rule 6.35 of the GEM Listing Rules had any
interest in the securities of the Company or of any member of the
Group, or had any right to subscribe for or to nominate persons to
subscribe for the securities of the Company or of any member of
the Group as at 30 June 2005.

Pursuant to a sponsor agreement entered into between the
Company and the Sponsor, the Sponsor is entitled to receive a fee
for acting as the Company’s sponsor for the period from 18 June
2004 to 30 June 2006.

BOARD PRACTICES AND PROCEDURES

Commencing from the Listing Date, the Company has complied
with the Board Practices and Procedures as set out in Rules 5.34 to
5.45 of the GEM Listing Rules.

The Company received written confirmations from all the
independent non-executive Directors pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the
GEM Listing Rules and therefore considers all the independent non-
executive Directors to be independent.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established an audit committee on 20 April 2004
with written terms of reference based on Rules 5.28 to 5.33 of the
GEM Listing Rules. The primary duties of the audit committee are to
review the Company’s annual report and financial statements, interim
reports and quarterly reports and to provide advice and comments
thereon to the Board. The audit committee is also responsible for
reviewing and supervising the Group’s financial reporting and internal
control procedures. The audit committee consists of all the
independent non-executive Directors, namely Dr. Ngan Man Wong,
Matthew, Professor Chung Sheung Chee, Sydney (from 20 April
2004 to 1 July 2004), Dr. Loh Kai Tsu, Kevin, Mr. Chan Siu Wing,
Raymond and Mr. Chan Po Kwong (appointed on 1 December 2004).
Dr. Ngan Man Wong, Matthew is the chairman of the audit
committee. The audit committee had met four times during the
year. The audited financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 30 June 2005 had been reviewed by the audit committee.
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POST BALANCE SHEET EVENT
Subsequent to 30 June 2005 and up to the date of this annual
report, the Company repurchased its own 3,500,000 shares on GEM.

AUDITORS
A resolution to re-appoint the retiring auditors, RSM Nelson
Wheeler, will be put at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

For and on behalf of the Board
Dr. Yeung Wah Hin, Alex
Chairman

Hong Kong, 22 September 2005
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RSM Nelson Wheeler
= om oE @B A

Certified Public Accountants

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
PLASMAGENE BIOSCIENCES LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the financial statements on pages 50 to 95
which have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in Hong Kong.

RESPECTIVE RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
AUDITORS

The Company's directors are responsible for the preparation of
financial statements which give a true and fair view. In preparing
financial statements which give a true and fair view it is fundamental
that appropriate accounting policies are selected and applied
consistently.

It is our responsibility to form an independent opinion, based
on our audit, on those statements and to report our opinion solely
to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report.

BASIS OF OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Statements of
Auditing Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. An audit includes examination, on a test basis,
of evidence relevant to the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. It also includes an assessment of the significant estimates
and judgements made by the directors in the preparation of the
financial statements, and of whether the accounting policies are
appropriate to the circumstances of the Company and the Group,
consistently applied and adequately disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the
information and explanations which we considered necessary in order
to provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance
as to whether the financial statements are free from material
misstatement. In forming our opinion we also evaluated the overall
adequacy of the presentation of information in the financial
statements. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis
for our opinion.
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OPINION BER

In our opinion the financial statements give a true and fair EZEMRAE  ZUBHRERUNEERLQT
view of the state of affairs of the Company and the Group as at 30 R BERER B5BER2005F6A308 K8
June 2005 and of the loss and cash flows of the Group for the year BikR kR EEBEEEZALFENEERR
then ended and have been properly prepared in accordance with eRE  UERBREBLNANKINERRTZA
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. e
RSM Nelson Wheeler BHREEIMT
Certified Public Accountants HESTAT
Hong Kong N5
22 September 2005 200549 A 22H
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT % & I # &

For the year ended 30 June 2005 #Z 200564308 It F &

2005 2004

20055 20044

Notes HK$ HK$

k=3 BT BT

Turnover HEE 4 1,133,297 1,741,605
Cost of sales HE KA (1,048,689) (1,257,657)
84,608 483,948

Other revenue Hip g A 5 596,679 59,965
681,287 543,913

Selling and distribution expenses HERDIEER (556,026) (206,473)
Administration expenses THEHR (4,097,754) (3,799,847)
Other operating expenses HipEEE A (1,618,180) (771,897)
Loss before taxation BB AT 18 6 (5,590,673) (4,234,304)
Taxation I8 7 - -
Loss attributable to shareholders B EG E 1R 9 (5,590,673) (4,234,304)
Loss per share — basic BREE-EXK 10 1.62 cents 1.76 cents

The notes on pages 56 to 95 form an integral part of these financial statements.
ES6EEEISEMMT B FHBRK -1 -
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET A e EE B B &

As at 30 June 2005 #2005 68308

2005 2004
20055 20044
Notes HK$ HK$
k=3 B BT
Non-current assets ERBDEE
Intangible assets BVEE 13 3,504,711 4,192,650
Plant and equipment V&Y 14 606,109 922,404
4,110,820 5,115,054
Current assets REEE
Other investments Hi&E 16 7,730,989 -
Inventories FE 17 33,514 41,997
Trade receivables FEW Z 5 BR 3K 18 130,548 148,010
Other receivables and prepayments H A e Y 3RIE K TR RUOR 671,348 575,683
Cash and bank balances Re RRTES 24,862,719 39,092,537
33,429,118 39,858,227
Less: Current liabilities WoREARE
Other payables and accrued charges HibENRENETER 545,984 1,225,455
Amount due to a related company I R WNEIE 5 19 618 413
546,602 1,225,868
Net current assets MBEEFE 32,882,516 38,632,359
Total assets less current liabilities BEERRBERE 36,993,336 43,747,413
Non-current liabilities EREEE
Convertible notes B EE 20 - 15,050,000
Total net assets BEEFE 36,993,336 28,697,413
Financed by: AR :
Share capital N 22 3,830,760 3,278,000
Reserves [ 18 33,162,576 25,419,413
36,993,336 28,697,413
Approved by the Board of Directors on 22 September 2005 EEZER2005F98 220 % &
Dr. Yeung Wah Hin, Alex Cheng Yan Tak, Angus Ronald
BEHRELE o E &=
Director Director
3 E

The notes on pages 56 to 95 form an integral part of these financial statements.
FS6EEESEMMEBUH TN BERER M
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As at 30 June 2005 #2005 6HA30H

2005 2004
20055 20044
Notes HK$ HK$
k=3 BT BT
Non-current assets FERBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RIE AR E 15 15,981,358 11,530,753
Current assets REEE
Other investments Hipig & 16 7,730,989 -
Other receivables and prepayments H A e U A R A BUR 359,716 395,834
Cash and bank balances Re RiR1THER 24,794,064 38,406,576
32,884,769 38,802,410
Less: Current liabilities W ORBAaE
Other payables and accrued charges HiMENREREFER 300,892 298,579
Net current assets TmEEEFE 32,583,877 38,503,831
Total assets less current liabilities BEERRDEE 48,565,235 50,034,584
Non-current liabilities FERBAE
Convertible notes R EE 20 - 15,050,000
Total net assets BEETE 48,565,235 34,984,584
Financed by: MHAR :
Share capital N 22 3,830,760 3,278,000
Reserves i 23 44,734,475 31,706,584
48,565,235 34,984,584

Approved by the Board of Directors on 22 September 2005

Dr. Yeung Wah Hin, Alex

EEEMN2005F9A 228 %K

Cheng Yan Tak, Angus Ronald

GEREBL HEE
Director Director
- 2

The notes on pages 56 to 95 form an integral part of these financial statements.
ES6EEEISEMMT B FHBRK -1 -
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
REREBREDRR

For the year ended 30 June 2005 & Z2005F6H30H IFFE

Issued Share Accumulated Sub-total

capital premium losses  of reserves Total

ERTRE  RHEE  RiEE BENE &3t

Notes HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$

fifeE B B B B B

Balance at 1 July 2003 M20035 7R 104 10,100 7,727,060  (3,640,651) 4,086,400 4,096,509

Capitalisation issue of shares AR BETRR 2,369,900 (2,369,900) - (2,369,900) -

Pre IPO Conversion of BRAABEER

Convertible Notes BBz 20(a) 258,000 6,192,000 - 6,192,000 6,450,000
Proceeds from issue of shares B E R E?EJ?"EET

by placing and public offer BIRPAERE 640,000 31,360,000 - 31,360,000 32,000,000

Share issue expenses Rt &TR% - (9,614,792) (9,614,792)  (9,614,792)

Loss for the year FEBR - - (4,234304) (4,234,304) (4,234,304)

Balance at 30 June 2004 R2004F6A308 £ % 3,278,000 33,294,368  (7,874,955) 25,419,413 28,697,413
First Post IPO Conversion of BRARBERE N

Convertible Notes ERTRREE 20(b) 344,000 8,256,000 - 8,256,000 8,600,000
Second Post IPO Conversion of ~ HRABEERE R

Convertible Notes ERTBRREE 20(c) 258,000 6,192,000 - 6,192,000 6,450,000

Shares repurchase RiHEE (49,240)  (1,114,164) - (1,114,164)  (1,163,404)

Loss for the year EEER - - (5590,673) (5590,673) (5,590,673)

Balance at 30 June 2005 R2005F6A30A &% 3,830,760 46,628,204 (13,465,628) 33,162,576 36,993,336

The notes on pages 56 to 95 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT # e € R E &

For the year ended 30 June 2005 & Z2005F 67308 L5

2005 2004
20055 20045
Notes HK$ HK$
Jiogz3 BT BT
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES B ZBHRERE
Loss before taxation bR H A B 48 (5,590,673) (4,234,304)
Adjustments for: HE

Amortisation of intangible assets BV EERE 451,208 447,214

Depreciation e 371,961 440,291

Interest income FEA (588,062) (54,966)

Unrealised holding loss of other HEHEMKBEZ

investments KEHEE 114,924 -

Write-off of intangible assets B EEMR 419,087 -
Operating loss before working capital EEESFENKLE

changes B3 (4,821,555) (3,401,765)
Decrease/(Increase) in inventories FEERD,/ (3Em) 8,483 (39,213)
Decrease in trade receivables W E 5 R ZOR A 17,462 59,730
(Increase)/Decrease in other receivables H At e U 5008 N T A 508

and prepayments (#m) /i (95,665) 2,972,112
Decrease in amount due from a related UL BRE N R FE

company L - 2,829
Decrease in amounts due from directors JiE It = AR A - 3,892,078
(Decrease)/Increase in other payables HiEMFER

and accrued charges FEETEBR CR D) /1Em (466,105) 96,102
Decrease in amount due to a shareholder — JEf — & B K IEH 4 - (655,848)
Increase/(Decrease) in amount due to fEHRRE N A FIEE N,

a related company CR) 205 (3,597,763)
Net cash used in operating activities RETHMARSFHE (5,357,175) (671,738)
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES BREZEREHE
Purchases of plant and equipment BEREREH (55,666) (80,440)
Payments for licences and patents TR RER 28(b)(i) (395,722) (344,115)
Payments for development costs XA R BB 28(b)(ii) - (625,000)
Acquisition of other investments WiE A iR & 16 (7,845,913) -
Interest received BIFH B 588,062 54,966
Net cash used in investing activities REZHMARSFE (7,709,239) (994,589)

The notes on pages 56 to 95 form an integral part of these financial statements.
ES6EEEISEMMT B FHBRK -1 -
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT # e € R E &

For the year ended 30 June 2005 # Z2005F6H30H IFFE

2005 2004
20054 20044
Notes HK$ HK$
k=3 BT BT
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES BB EZEHHRERE 28(a)
Proceeds from issuance of share capital BT AP FUA - 32,000,000
Payments relating to issue costs of share 7 B8 B% 5 3 17 B AN A9
capital A - (9,614,792)
Shares repurchase i 17 85 B 22(f) (1,163,404) -
Net cash (used in)/generated from BRETE (A B
financing activities He 8 (1,163,404) 22,385,208
NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN CASHAND B2 RRLZEY
CASH EQUIVALENTS (RD),/#EmEE (14,229,818) 20,718,881
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FINEER
AT BEGINNING OF YEAR REZEEY 39,092,537 18,373,656
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FRNEER
AT END OF YEAR REZEEY 24,862,719 39,092,537
ANALYSIS OF THE BALANCES OF CASH ReRRSSEYER
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS i
Cash and bank balances Re RRTES 24,862,719 39,092,537

The notes on pages 56 to 95 form an integral part of these financial statements.
ES6EELEMM T B EMBHRE 1) -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS &t # # * Kf &

For the year ended 30 June 2005 & Z2005F 67308 L5

ORGANISATION AND OPERATIONS

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 27
June 2002 under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, as
an exempted company limited by shares. Details of the
Company’s subsidiaries are set out in note 15 to the financial
statements.

The Company is an investment holding company. Its subsidiaries
are principally engaged in the provision of diagnostic testing
services and products and related research and development.

RECENTLY ISSUED ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

In 2004, the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
issued a number of new or revised Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKAS") and Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRS") (herein collectively referred to as “new
HKFRSs"”) which are effective for accounting periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2005.

The Group has not early adopted these new HKFRSs in the
preparation of its consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 30 June 2005. However, the Group has made a
preliminary assessment of the impact of these new HKFRSs as
set out below:

(a) HKFRS 2 “Share-based payment”

HKFRS 2 “Share-based payment” requires an expense to
be recognised where the Group buys or obtains services in
exchange for share or rights over shares (“equity-settled
transactions”), or in exchange for other assets equivalent
in value to a given number of shares or rights over shares
("cash-settled transactions”). The principal impact of HKFRS
2 on the Group is in relation to the expensing of share
options granted to the directors and The Chinese University
of Hong Kong (the “Chinese University”) which detailed in
note 27 to the financial statements. Currently, the Group
does not recognise any expenses relating to the share
options issued by the Company. Such share options should
be accounted for retrospectively in accordance with HKFRS
2. However, the Group is not yet in a position to determine
its impact on its results of the operations and financial
position.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS &t # # * Kf &

2. RECENTLY ISSUED ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

(continued)

(b) HKAS 32 "Financial instruments: disclosure and

presentation” and HKAS 39 “Financial instruments:
recognition and measurement”
HKAS 32 and HKAS 39 require all investments to be
reclassified into available-for-sale financial assets, financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss and loans and
receivables. Currently, the investments held by the Group
are classified as current assets at fair value on the
consolidated balance sheet (see note 16 to the financial
statements).

The adoption of HKAS 32 and HKAS 39 does not have a
material effect on the Group’s results of operations and
financial position in 2005.

The Group will be continuing with the assessment of the impact
of the other new HKFRSs and, as a result, other significant
changes may be identified.

3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(a) Basis of preparation
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong
and comply with accounting standards issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. They have
been prepared under the historical cost convention.

(b) Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries made up
to 30 June 2004 and 2005. The results of subsidiaries
acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the
consolidated income statement from the effective date of
acquisition or up to the effective date of disposal, as
appropriate.

A subsidiary is a company that is controlled by the Company,
where the Company has the power to govern the financial
and operating policies of such company so as to obtain
benefits from its activities.

All significant intercompany transactions and balances
within the Group are eliminated on consolidation.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS &t # # * Kf &

For the year ended 30 June 2005 & Z2005F 67308 L5

3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Consolidation (continued)

The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary represents
the difference between the proceeds of the sale and the
Group's share of its net assets together with any goodwill
or capital reserve which was not previously charged or
recognised in the consolidated income statement.

Investments in subsidiaries are stated in the Company’s
balance sheet at cost less impairment losses, if any. The
results of subsidiaries are accounted for on the basis of
dividends received and receivable.

Revenue recognition
Revenue from the sales of diagnostic testing services is
recognised when the services are rendered.

Revenue from the sales of diagnostic testing products is
recognised on the transfer of risks and rewards of ownership
which generally coincide with the time when goods are
delivered and title has passed.

Interest income is recognised on a time proportion basis,
taking into account the principal amounts outstanding and
the interest rates applicable.

Research and development

(i) Licences and patents
Expenditures for licences and patents are recognised
as intangible assets only if it is probable that the future
economic benefits that are attributable to the asset
will flow to the Group and the cost of the asset can
be measured reliably; otherwise they are charged to
the consolidated income statement in the period in
which they are incurred.

After initial recognition, the licences and patents are
measured at cost less accumulated amortisation on a
straight line basis over the estimated useful lives of
the relevant testing services for periods of 7 to 15
years and any impairment losses.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS &t # # * Kf &

For the year ended 30 June 2005 # Z2005F6H30H IFFE

3. FESHE ()
(d) WFFEER ()

3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(d) Research and development (continued)

(i) Research and development activities

Research costs are charged to the consolidated income
statement in the period in which they are incurred.
Development costs are recognised as intangible assets
only when such costs are incurred for specific projects
where recoverability can be foreseen with reasonable
assurance and comply with the following criteria: (i)
the product or process is clearly defined and the
development costs attributable to the product or
process can be separately identified and measured
reliably; (ii) the technical feasibility of the product or
process can be demonstrated; (i) the Group intends
to produce and market, or use, the product or process;
(iv) the existence of a market for the product or process
or, if it is to be used internally rather than sold, its
usefulness to the Group, can be demonstrated; and
(v) adequate resources exist, or their availability can
be demonstrated, to complete the project and market
or use the product or process. Development costs not
meeting these criteria are expensed as incurred.
Development costs recognised as intangible assets are
stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and
impairment losses and are amortised on a straight line
basis over the estimated commercial lives of the
underlying testing services which generally do not
exceed twenty years.

(e) Plant and equipment

Plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses and are depreciated at
rates sufficient to write off their cost over their estimated
useful lives on a straight line basis. The principal annual
rates are as follows:

Laboratory equipment 20%
Leasehold improvements 20%
Office equipment, furniture and fixtures 20% - 40%
Motor vehicles 30%

Major costs incurred in restoring plant and equipment to
their normal working condition are charged to the
consolidated income statement. Improvements are
capitalised and depreciated over their expected useful lives
to the Group.

The gain or loss on disposal of plant and equipment is the
difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the relevant asset, and is recognised in the
consolidated income statement.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS &t # # * Kf &

For the year ended 30 June 2005 & Z2005F 67308 L5

3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

()

(9)

(h)

Other investments

Other investments are carried at fair value. At each balance
sheet date the net unrealised gains or losses arising from
the changes in fair value of other investments are
recognised in the consolidated income statement. Profits
or losses on disposal of other investments, representing
the difference between the net sales proceeds and the
carrying amounts, are recognised in the consolidated income
statement as they arise.

Impairment

At each balance sheet date, the Group and the Company
reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible assets,
intangible assets and investments in subsidiaries to
determine whether there is any indication that those assets
have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication
exists, the recoverable amount of the assets is estimated in
order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if
any). Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable
amount of an individual asset, the Group and the Company
estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit to which the asset belongs.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating
unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is
reduced to its recoverable amount. Impairment losses are
recognised as expenses immediately.

Where an impairment loss is subsequently reversed, the
carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is
increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount,
but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed
the carrying amount that would have been determined (net
of amortisation or depreciation) had no impairment loss
been recognised for the asset (or cash-generating unit) in
prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised
as income immediately.

Taxation

The charge for taxation is based on the results for the year
as adjusted for items which are non-assessable or
disallowable. Hong Kong profits tax is provided at the rate
prevailing for the year based on the assessable profit for
the year less allowable losses, if any, brought forward.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS &t # # * Kf &

For the year ended 30 June 2005 # Z2005F6H30H IFFE

3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(h) Taxation (continued)

()

()

(k)

Deferred taxation is provided in full, using the balance
sheet liability method, on temporary differences arising
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts in the financial statements. Taxation rates
enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date
are used to determine deferred taxation. Deferred tax assets
are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future
taxable profit will be available against which the temporary
differences can be utilised.

Deferred taxation is provided on temporary differences
arising on investments in subsidiaries, except where the
timing of the reversal of the temporary difference can be
controlled and it is probable that the temporary difference
will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred taxation is charged or credited to the consolidated
income statement, except when it relates to items charged
or credited directly to equity, in which case the deferred
taxation is also dealt with in equity.

Accounts receivable

Accounts receivable are stated net of provision for doubtful
debts. Provision is made against accounts receivable to the
extent they are considered to be doubtful.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined on a first in, first out basis and
includes all costs of purchase, costs of conversion, and
other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their
present location and condition. Net realisable value is the
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business
less the estimated costs of completion and the estimated
costs necessary to make the sale.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents represent cash at bank and on
hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, and short-term highly liquid investments which
are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and
subject to an insignificant risk of change in value, having
been within three months of maturity at acquisition. For
the purpose of the consolidated cash flow statement, bank
overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an
integral part of an enterprise’s cash management are also
included as a component of cash and cash equivalents.
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For the year ended 30 June 2005 & Z2005F 67308 L5

3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 3. TEGHEEE)

(I) Provisions and contingencies () ?ﬁﬁ&:‘i%lﬁ B
A provision is recognised when there is a present obligation, ERTEHIABERNEL OXT L
legal or constructive, as a result of a past event and it is ) BB BIReRN)SEHHE
probable (i.e. more likely than not) that an outflow of RERBENRNERNEZES - 1
resources embodying economic benefits will be required to RS ERRESEREE - &

settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made
of the amount of the obligation. Provisions are reviewed
regularly and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate.
Where the effect of the time value of money is material,
the amount of a provision is the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation.

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises
from past events and whose existence will only be
confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or
more uncertain future events not wholly within the control
of the Group. It can also be a present obligation arising
from past events that is not recognised because it is not
probable that outflow of economic resources will be
required or the amount of obligation cannot be measured
reliably. Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the
financial statements. They are disclosed unless the possibility
of an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits
is remote.

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past
events and whose existence will be confirmed only by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain
events not wholly within the control of the Group. A
contingent asset is not recognised in the financial
statements but disclosed when an inflow of economic
benefits is probable.

(m) Operating leases

Leases where substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of assets remain with the leasing company are
accounted for as operating leases. Rentals applicable to
such operating leases are charged to the consolidated
income statement on a straight line basis over the lease
term.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS &t # # * Kf &

For the year ended 30 June 2005 # Z2005F6H30H IFFE

3. TESIHEEE)
(n) HEEBRE

3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(n) Foreign currency translation

(o)

(p)

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into Hong
Kong dollars at the approximate rates of exchange ruling
on the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities in
foreign currencies are translated at the rates ruling on the
balance sheet date. Profits and losses resulting from this
translation policy are included in the consolidated income
statement.

Employee benefits

(i)  Retirement benefits schemes
Obligations for contributions to defined contribution
retirement plans, including contributions payable under
the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance, are recognised as expenses in the
consolidated income statement as incurred.

(i) Share option schemes

The Company operates share option schemes for the
purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible
participants who contribute to the success of the
Group's operations. The financial impact of share
options granted under the share option schemes is
not recorded in the Company’s or the Group’s balance
sheet until such time as the options are exercised, and
no charge is recorded in the income statement or
balance sheet for their cost. Upon the exercise of share
options, the resulting shares issued are recorded by
the Company as additional share capital at the nominal
value of the shares, and the excess of the exercise
price per share over the nominal value of the shares is
recorded by the Company in the share premium
account. Options which are cancelled prior to their
exercise date, or which lapse, are deleted from the
register of outstanding options.

Segment reporting

A segment is a distinguishable component of the Group
that is engaged either in providing products or services
(business segment), or in providing products or services
within a particular economic environment (geographical
segment), which is subject to risks and rewards that are
different from those of other segments.
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For the year ended 30 June 2005 & Z2005F 67308 L5

3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(p)

(q)

Segment reporting (continued)

Segment revenue, expenses, results, assets and liabilities
include items directly attributable to a segment as well as
those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis to that
segment. Segment revenue, expenses, assets and liabilities
are determined before intra-group balances and intra-group
transactions are eliminated as part of consolidation process,
except to the extent that such intra-group balances and
transactions are between group companies within a single
segment.

Segment capital expenditure is the total costs incurred
during the year to acquire segment assets that are expected
to be used for more than one period.

Related parties

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the
ability, directly or indirectly, to control the other party or
exercise significant influence over the other party in making
financial and operating decisions. Parties are also considered
to be related if they are subject to common control or
common significant influence. Related parties may be
individuals or corporate entities.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS &t # # * Kf &

For the year ended 30 June 2005 # Z 20054 6H308 L FE

4. TURNOVER 4. BXH
The Group is principally engaged in sales of diagnostic testing AEEFEREHEZDHARRBRER
services and products, and research and development relating IARBEEZERAERE TEMEROHEE
to diagnosis of cancer and certain other illnesses. During the REIE -REERN AEEEEALLER
year, all of the Group’s business were carried on in Hong Kong. BEH -

2005 2004
2005 20044
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Sales of diagnostic testing HE DB
services and products R 7 K
Related parties MEAT 48,245 771,975
Third parties E=5 1,085,052 969,630
Total Gl 1,133,297 1,741,605
OTHER REVENUE H ot A
2005 2004
2005 20044
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Interest income FEHA 588,062 54,966
Handling charges received BEWMzFEE 8,400 -
Sundry income HIEULA 217 4,999
596,679 59,965
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6. LOSS BEFORE TAXATION 6. BREAEE
Loss before taxation is stated after charging the following: BRELAT BB THIEE &I
2005 2004
2005F 20044
HKS$ HK$
BT BT
Amortisation of intangible assets EEEEE 743,485 736,856
Less: Amounts capitalised as B REKAREARL
development costs ) 7158 (292,277) (289,642)
Amortisation included in other i GrAEAM
operating expenses HEERR) 451,208 447,214
Auditors’ remuneration ZE R B & 150,000 130,000
Cost of inventories sold HE KA 77,008 159,368
Depreciation e 371,961 440,291
Directors’ remuneration =W
As directors = - -
For management ERE 1,368,513 864,000
1,368,513 864,000
Exchange losses & 58k 8,159 58,452
Operating leases rental in respect of MELEANES
premises 149,686 129,000
Research and development expenditure BN B B
other than amortisation and staff costs B IMAK 395,540 882,186
Staff costs (excluding directors’ BEIRA(TBEES
remuneration — note 11) Be—Harn
Staff salaries and wages BETIHeNIE 1,497,138 1,117,719
Retirement benefits scheme BARIE R E 2
contributions R 69,219 48,657
Other welfares H At 18 F 47,876 9,702
1,614,233 1,176,078
Unrealised holding loss of other BHEEMREZRERER
investments 114,924 -
Write-off of intangible assets B EEMR
(included in other operating expenses) GTAEMZEEER) 419,087 -
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For the year ended 30 June 2005 # Z2005F6H30H IFFE

TAXATION

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax is required since the
Group has no assessable profits for the year.

The reconciliation between the Group’s loss before taxation

7. WIE
MRAEBERFERLERERT OGN - Bt
BARBTBNERIERE -

ARENBRRANBEEEREREMRE17.5%:f

and the amount which is calculated based on the tax rate of ENeBENYERENT :
17.5% in Hong Kong is as follows:
2005 2004
20055 20044
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Loss before taxation B 73 A& 18 (5,590,673) (4,234,304)
Tax calculated at the tax rate ERETENTE (978,368) (741,003)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible in 7 7F /i 28 51 0% FI B R B0 R 9
determining taxable profits THHOBBTE 161,579 48,043
Tax effect of income not taxable in FA 7 T FE AR 8 4 B B 7 SR B B
determining taxable profits WARB B2 (102,899) (10,495)
Tax effect of temporary differences ARRERHEZENTHTE
not recognised 128,476 (30,277)
Loss not recognised as deferred tax MARRAEFRAEFNBE Q&
assets due to unpredictability BRBELEHIE
of profit streams BENESE 791,212 733,732
Taxation BB - -
DIVIDEND 8. BRE

No dividend has been paid or declared by the Company or any
of its subsidiaries for the year.

LOSS ATTRIBUTABLE TO SHAREHOLDERS
The consolidated loss attributable to shareholders include a loss
of HK$305,945 (2004: HK$1,123,222) which has been dealt
with in the financial statements of the Company.

ARAIEEFHER RN FEL BN R
EREMBES -

9. RREMLER
R ENEABEBERIE3059458 T
(20044 : 1,123,222 L) * ZBEERAR
B EHMEAERE -
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10. LOSS PER SHARE

11.

The calculation of the basic loss per share is based on the loss
attributable to the shareholders for the year of HK$5,590,673
(2004: HK$4,234,304) and on the weighted average number of
ordinary shares of 345,897,501 (2004: 241,189,617) in issue
during the year after adjustment for the capitalisation issue.

The computation of diluted loss per share for the year ended
30 June 2004 and 2005 has not been presented because the
assumed conversion of the Company’s convertible notes (the
“Convertible Notes"”), which were outstanding during the year,
had anti-dilutive effects on the respective basic loss per share.

The computation of diluted loss per share for the share options
granted during the year ended 30 June 2005 has not been
presented because the assumed exercises of share options, which
were outstanding during the year, had anti-dilutive effects on
the basic loss per share.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT'S

EMOLUMENTS

(a) Details of the emoluments paid and payable to the directors
during the year are as follows:

10. BREE

11.

BREANBEDBEAFERREMLEIRE
5,590,673/ 7T (20044F : 4,234,304 L) &
ERERNEBTHEABRHNEENCRITER
P A0 15 % 81345,897,50 1% (20044 -
241,189,6170%) 5 & o

ARBRREAREEARNKITENERATZ
ABREEE ([ATARRE]) HZangRE
AEBEREEER - R &2 8 ZE2004
F 200556 A30R IEFE B REE RN
BHE-

HMRABRBRTEERE(EEEANARITE) @
HEREASEEREEER MITELY
B ZE2005F6 9308 IEFERR B BRERN:

CVp
ESREAREEEMS

() REENENRENTFEEHMS S
mT

2005 2004

2005 20044

HK$ HK$

BT BT

Bonuses TEAL - -
Fees we - -
Salaries and allowances e KRR 1,351,174 852,000
Retirement scheme contributions RIREH IR 17,339 12,000
1,368,513 864,000

Details of emoluments of executive, non-executive and

HITEF  FRTEFRBIUFRTE

independent non-executive directors are as follows: ERBeFENT
2005 2004
2005% 20044
HKS$ HK$
BT BT

Executive directors WITES

Dr. Yeung Wah Hin, Alex BEREE 1,206,400 864,000
Mr. Cheng Yan Tak, Angus Ronald BRELEE 162,113 -
1,368,513 864,000
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11. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT'’S N EBEREREEEME (B)
EMOLUMENTS (continued)
(@) (continued) (@) (&)
Details of share options granted to the executive, non- BYHOTES  FRTESRBEUIEH
executive and independent non-executive directors are set TEENBERESFE  SRUBEREM
out in note 27 to the financial statements. None of the H27  EEAFEAYL EMEWIEM
directors has waived any emoluments during the year. B o
The remuneration of the directors was in the following EXTWeEUTHEMOAZDT ¢
bands:
2005 2004
2005 2004%F
Number of Number of
directors directors
Ex=gH EEHE
Emolument bands: HeaE
HK$Nil — HK$1,000,000 % 7T 21,000,000 7T 9 9
HK$1,000,001 - HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 JC £ 1,500,000/ 7T 1 -
(b) The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in by AEEREZSHEALTHOT ¢

the Group are as follows:

2005 2004

2005 20044

Number of Number of

employees employees

EBEHA EEBH#E

Directors =X 1 1
Employees BB 4 4
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11. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT'S
EMOLUMENTS (continued)
(c) The aggregate emoluments of the five highest paid
individuals included one director of the Company, whose
emoluments are included in note 11(b) above. The

N ESKSREEEN= (A)

(€ S&ZeEFMALH  Ed—FAKAT
B2 HEHMeR®m DHNLEXHFE
11(b) o I £ ST s 11(b)FTal + H k4

aggregate emoluments of the remaining four employees as fIEEMMe@BEMT
mentioned in note 11(b) above are as follows:
2005 2004
20055 20044
HK$ HK$
B BT
Bonuses Te4 - -
Salaries and allowances e KRk 932,036 845,149
Retirement scheme contributions RIRETEI 3R 43,540 38,185
975,576 883,334

The remuneration of the employees was in the following

EEMEEATHBENAZMT :

bands:

2005 2004
20055 20044
Number of Number of
employees employees
EE&EA BEHE

Emolument bands: <& #E
HK$Nil — HK$1,000,000 5 7L £ 1,000,000 7T 4 4

(d) During the year, no emoluments have been paid or payable
by the Group to the directors or any of the five highest
paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining
the Group or as compensation for loss of office.

The Group remunerates its employees mainly based on industry’s
practices and individual's performance and experience. On top
of regular remuneration, share options may be granted to
eligible staff under the share option scheme adopted by the
Company on 20 April 2004 by reference to the Group's
performance as well as individual's performance.

10 PLASMAGENE B1OSCIENCES LIMITED EREREYMRBEERL A

(d) REER  FAEEYERAEZTRERH
B Ey 5% A AR — % ST 3 B A5 4 £ B
& MRS REMARKE L RENF
MAREBSER/REBRUAME -

AEERENFHEIERETEENRES
RBHRLCHMET - RETHEMIN » K27
ER2004F4 B20 B B EER AT &) - BULIR
BASENREREERANEGEREIR
TR -



12. RETIREMENT BENEFIT COSTS

13.

ANNUAL RepORT 2005 = 3§

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS &t # # * Kf &

For the year ended 30 June 2005 # Z2005F6H30H IFFE

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“MPF
Scheme”) for all qualifying employees in Hong Kong. The MPF
Scheme is a defined contribution scheme managed by
independent trustees. Under the MPF Scheme, both the Group
and the employees make monthly contribution to the MPF
Scheme at 5% of the employees’ earnings as defined under
the MPF legislation, subject to a cap of HK$1,000 per month.

The contribution paid or payable by the Group for the MPF

12. BIRBAKA

AEERERERESE ([BELF
) EMBAERMBEEREEZM - BES
HERBUEEAETENRTEAGE -
ERBELHET  2£EEREEHRERE
SEOIFAMEESEIREEFSHS%IE
R mMERM ERAS A1,0008 7T ¢

AEERFERNCHREMN BB S MM

Scheme during the year are as follows: HT
2005 2004
2005 20044
HK$ HK$
BT BT
MPF Scheme contributions BMIESF MR 86,558 60,657
INTANGIBLE ASSETS 13. B & E
Group £E
Development Licences and
costs patents Total
HBEEX FIRER A&t
HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT
Cost BEN
At 1 July 2004 R2004F78 18 3,386,610 2,727,462 6,114,072
Additions PN 292,277 228,759 521,036
Write-off WA (66,250) (465,490) (531,740)
At 30 June 2005 742005467308 3,612,637 2,490,731 6,103,368
Amortisation B
At 1 July 2004 20045 7H1H 1,085,000 836,422 1,921,422
Charge to consolidated BiERAMER T NE
income statement 420,000 31,208 451,208
Amount capitalised as FEKAERCH TR
development costs - 292,277 292,277
Provided for the year FEERE 420,000 323,485 743,485
Write-off & - (66,250) (66,250)
At 30 June 2005 420056 A30H 1,505,000 1,093,657 2,598,657
Net book value RHEFE
At 30 June 2005 7420056 A 30H 2,107,637 1,397,074 3,504,711
At 30 June 2004 1200446 8308 2,301,610 1,891,040 4,192,650
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13. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued) 13. B EE (&)

Group (continued)

Licences and patents are expenditures of licences and patents
where future economic benefits are expected to flow to the
Group. For those licences and patents which the directors of
the Company (the “Directors”) do not anticipate any income
flow from future testing services, the relevant costs will be
charged to the consolidated income statement in the year in
which they are incurred.

Research costs are charged to consolidated income statement
in the year in which they are incurred as research and
development expenses. Development costs are recoginsed as
intangible assets only when such costs are incurred for specific
testing services where recoverability can be foreseen with
reasonable assurance. Otherwise, development costs will be
charged to consolidated income statement in the year in which
they are incurred. The development costs mainly comprised
(i) consideration for the consultancy agreement paid/payable to
the Chinese University and (ii) the amortisation of licences and
patents in relation to the future testing services under
development and capitalised as development costs.
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£8 (&)
FARBENANBERASERKEENRR
ARGENFAREFNER - ERARAE
S([EZ)) BT EHEHE MRS TRAN
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For the year ended 30 June 2005 # Z 20054 6H308 L FE

14. PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. BERZE
Group £E
Office
equipment,
Laboratory Leasehold furniture Motor
equipment improvements  and fixtures vehicles Total
N
4 %0 HE RE HE
B HEIR REE RE &%
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT BT
Cost KA
At 1 July 2004 1 200457A1H 1,037,650 269,492 607,778 94,206 2,009,126
Additions #B5 3,784 - 51,882 - 55,666
At 30 June 2005 2200556 A30H 1,041,434 269,492 659,660 94,206 2,064,792
Accumulated depreciation RitHE
At 1 July 2004 12004F 7R 16 533,777 73,486 385,253 94,206 1,086,722
Charge for the year FEER 208,223 53,898 109,840 - 371,961
At 30 June 2005 12200556 A 308 742,000 127,384 495,093 94,206 1,458,683
Net book value RETE
At 30 June 2005 12005564308 299,434 142,108 164,567 - 606,109
At 30 June 2004 12 2004%6 A 308 503,873 196,006 222,525 - 922,404
15. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 15. REBAAMRE
Company o
2005 2004
20055 20044
HK$ HK$
B AT
Unlisted shares, at cost FLMMRA - R 8 8
Amounts due from subsidiaries AL IEINEIVSE 15,981,350 11,530,794
15,981,358 11,530,802
Amount due to a subsidiary JE 15 PR B 1 B Z0IA - (49)
15,981,358 11,530,753
The amounts due are unsecured, interest free and not repayable FZEFEREER  2BHBERKEKTZ
within the next twelve months. B{ARER -
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15. R B A RIMKRE ()
nH (E)
F2005F6 A30B MM B ARIFBMT ¢

15. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
Company (continued)
Details of the subsidiaries at 30 June 2005 are as follows:

Place of incorporation

and operation and Issued and fully Attributable Principal
Company kind of legal entity paid share capital equity interest activities
ARk ERTR
AL WHREEERER BRRE EhREAER TEXREK
Direct Indirect
E# &
Chemosino International British Virgin Ordinary shares 100% - Investment
Limited Islands, Limited Us$1 holding
liability company Lk RERK
RERLES (EYH
BAREERA
3 Ben Genomics Republic of Mauritius/ Ordinary shares - 100% Research and
Hong Kong Ltd. Hong Kong, Limited Us$100 development
liability company £l HRERE
FEERHAME 100% 7T
EpC i
BREEAF
Plasmagene Limited Hong Kong, Limited Ordinary shares - 100% Diagnostic
LmERNERAT liability company HK$12,000,000 testing services
Rl LER and products,
BREEAA 12,000,000 7T and related
research and
development
RS
R R
Em b
RIABEH
TERFE
Celltech Limited Hong Kong, Limited Ordinary shares - 100% Not yet
liability company HK$100 commenced
ik ERE business
BEREERT 1007% 7T mARRE
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16. OTHER INVESTMENTS 16. Hftb R &
Group and Company EBRAT
2005 2004
20055 20044
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Five-year treasury notes of FERFHEESZE
the United States 7,730,989 -
In July 2004, surplus cash of approximately HK$7,846,000 was 2004 7R - e K88 %7,846,0008 T
invested in the five-year treasury notes of the United States REREZBERFHEERRE FEXR4IE -
with an interest rate of 4% per annum. An unrealised holding BAEZAREHEEH115000%8 TE B2005F
loss amounted to approximately HK$115,000 has been charged 6H30R ILFEMEERARPHE -
to the consolidated income statement for the year ended 30
June 2005.
17. INVENTORIES 17. 78
Group £H
2005 2004
20055 20044
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Pharmaceutical supplies BEfEm 33,514 41,997
At the balance sheet date, all inventories are carried at cost. REER - FIEFEHEKARTE -
18. TRADE RECEIVABLES 18. EREZ R
Group £E
2005 2004
20055 20044
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Trade receivables FEWE 5 BR 3K 130,548 148,010
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18. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)
The Group's policy is to allow an average credit period of 30
days to its trade customers. The following is an aged analysis

18. BIWE 5 MR (&)

ARENBRRA/ESEPRE{FHI0RM
EEH UTARGEERNEKEZRIE

of the trade receivables at the balance sheet date: BT
2005 2004
20055 20044
HK$ HK$
BT BT
0 - 30 days 0£30H 85,933 116,840
31 - 60 days 312 60H 39,775 23,410
61 - 90 days 61£90H 4,140 3,880
> 90 days iBI0H 700 3,880
130,548 148,010
Breakdown of trade receivables is as follows: EWE SEBRFHDTHOT
2005 2004
2005%F 20044
HK$ HK$
B BT
Trade receivables JE U Z 5 8RR 130,548 148,010
Less: Provision for doubtful debts Ao RIREE - -
130,548 148,010
19. AMOUNT DUE TO A RELATED COMPANY 19. ENBELATRE
Group £E
2005 2004
20055 20044
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Wellchamp Capital Limited 618 413

The balance represents amount due to Wellchamp Capital
Limited of which Mr. Cheng Yan Tak, Angus Ronald is a director
and beneficial shareholder. The amount due is unsecured,
interest free and repayable on demand.
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20. CONVERTIBLE NOTES
Group and Company
On 14, 16 and 27 December 2002, the Company issued non-
interest bearing Convertible Notes totalling HK$21,500,000.
Pursuant to the terms of the Convertible Notes:

(a) Initial conversion of 30% of the aggregate nominal value
of the notes (amounted to HK$6,450,000) into 25,800,000
ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each of the Company took
place on 17 June 2004 which was immediately before the
listing date of the Company’s shares on the Growth
Enterprise Market (“GEM") of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (the "Pre IPO
Conversion”).

(b) Second conversion of 40% of the aggregate nominal value
of the notes (amounted to HK$8,600,000) into 34,400,000
ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each of the Company took
place on 18 December 2004, the date six months after the
listing date of the Company’s shares on GEM (the “First
Post IPO Conversion”).

(c) Final conversion of the remaining 30% of the aggregate
nominal value of the notes (amounted to HK$6,450,000)
into 25,800,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each of the
Company took place on 18 June 2005, the date twelve
months after the listing date of the Company’s shares on
GEM (the “Second Post IPO Conversion”).

Conversion price was fixed at HK$0.25 which represents 50%
of the price for placing and public offer.
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For the year ended 30 June 2005 # Z2005F6H30H IFFE

20. TR EE
EERQTA
720024128148 ~ 168 K278 » A @)%
174 %821,500,0008 TR FEFH E AT AR R
B REBEZSURREEMBET

(a) BRI TN2004F6A178 (BIBEAK
REBRNREBBERZMERAE (5
RFT)) BIEMR ([8I1ZR])) & B ERRT)
BT S RBEBRBHEERN30%(E
6,450,000/% 7T) #2142 4 25,800,000/% & %
EE0.01B T AR R EBIAR ([HX
NFAEERER]) o

(b) 5 ZRIEBAXDA2004F 128188 » AR
AROREIZER EMEBZBR A EAER
TS RBEBEEBENL0%(E
8,600,000/ 7T) ¥ 2 £ 34,400,0000% & i
ERERKN Tk NGRS 6 S R= N
NAEERE—ER]) -

() mE—XBBREH2005F6818H » KA
ARMREIER LETESHE R —FER
BT ARBEREEAESH TH30%(E
6,450,000/ 7T) ¥ 425,800,000/% & i%
HEOIBITHARBE@EMRMN ([&E
IWARBERE - Ek]) -

MIREER02SET A EBERARERAH
BEMERA50% °
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21. DEFERRED TAXATION 21, EERIE
Group 56
The major components of the unprovided deferred taxation of 7N 8= [ 72 20044 K 200546 5 308 8 & & &
the Group at 30 June 2004 and 2005 are as follows: BRERBEBFERHIMNT -
2005 2004
20055 20045
HK$ HK$
B BT
Excess of depreciation over tax MERATIER R
allowance/(Accelerated wE/ (nik
depreciation allowance) REEe) 11,995 (28,077)
Temporary difference relating EEA - EH R B KA
to the capitalisation of licences, EXtE#H
patents and development costs B B = 5 (525,825) (614,229)
Future benefits of tax losses BIEEB B KRR &= 3,145,772 2,354,560
2,631,942 1,712,254
No deferred tax assets has been recognised as the generation R RERTERREENERTEFNESE
of future taxable profits against which the assets can be utilised HAISAMELEHIEEE - WA BERLE
is uncertain. The tax losses can be carried forward indefinitely. BERNIEEE -HESENERBES -
Company AT
The Company has no material deferred tax assets or liabilities. ARRTHMERELERBEEEXAE -
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For the year ended 30 June 2005 # Z 20054 6H308 L FE

22. SHARE CAPITAL 22. B
Number of Nominal
shares value
B#HEE HE
HK$
BT
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each FREEOAITHEBRRN
Authorised ETE
At 30 June 2004 and 2005 720044 K 200546 A30H 1,000,000,000 10,000,000
Issued and fully paid BEETRAR
At 1 July 2003 720037818 1,010,000 10,100
Capitalisation issue of shares (note a) BARCEITRG (Kfita) 236,990,000 2,369,900
Pre IPO Conversion of Convertible BRAFABE SR BR
Notes (note b) Z& (K 7tb) 25,800,000 258,000
Proceeds from issue of shares by UERERDAAEEHA BT
placing and public offer (note c) B 1n B 15 3038 (B atc) 64,000,000 640,000
At 30 June 2004 720046 A30H 327,800,000 3,278,000
First Post IPO Conversion of BRALAFABERE - NEBRIER
Convertible Notes (note d) REE (Ffitd) 34,400,000 344,000
Second Post IPO Conversion of BAAHBERE _NEHRIKR
Convertible Notes (note e) RE®& (Hiite) 25,800,000 258,000
Shares repurchase (note f) R BE Rl (K aEr) (4,924,000) (49,240)
At 30 June 2005 % 2005468308 383,076,000 3,830,760
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22. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

Notes:

(a)

80 PLASMAGENE BIOSCIENCES LIMITED EZHER4EMBEERAF

On 17 June 2004, share premium of HK$2,369,900 were capitalised
for the issue of 236,990,000 shares of HK$0.01 each on a pro-
rata basis to the Company’s shareholders registered on 20 April
2004.

The Pre IPO Conversion of 25,800,000 shares of HK$0.01 each
were issued and allotted to noteholders of Convertible Notes of
HK$6,450,000 on 17 June 2004.

22. B& (&)

CEX

(a)

20046 A 178 » B 3 %17236,990,000% &
IREEO.01B TR D - LUR fI R % T
7200464 208 B3I A QA IR R E LM L/
A% 5 1M 75 34 f812,369,90078 ;T E A fL ©

2004678170  EBETREZRBENMAESE
A8 425,800,000/% &R EE0.0178 T B3
F4566,450,0008 TR A R EE 2 BB
BA-

On 17 June 2004, 64,000,000 shares of HK$0.01 each were issued () 2004F6A17H  EREERABEEET
at HK$0.5 per share through placing and public offer, resulting in 64,000,0008 R EEO.01E TR G - Bk
net cash proceeds of approximately HK$22,385,000. EEOSHATT - IGEHNRERBFENA
22,385,000/ 7T °
The First Post PO Conversion of 34,400,000 shares of HK$0.01 (d) 20045128188 @ BB REEE N AME
each were issued and allotted to noteholders of Convertible Notes & 18 %— NE#34,400,0001R G IR EE0.018
of HK$8,600,000 on 18 December 2004. TLHI R F #5 F 8,600,00058 7T &) 7] 2 % Z 45
ZEBFHBA -
The Second Post IPO Conversion of 25,800,000 shares of HK$0.01 (e) 2005F6A18H  EETRETFHAARES
each were issued and allotted to noteholders of Convertible Notes %5 — N# 25,800,000/ B R EE0.0178 T
of HK$6,450,000 on 18 June 2005. B % 1 F #5465 6,450,0008 TR AR AR 1K 2
ZEERBBEA -
During the year ended 30 June 2005, the Company repurchased (f) #ZE2005F6A30BLFEN + RRBFERIE
its own shares on GEM as follows: RBEERSRD  FEOT :
Number of Price per share Aggregate
Month of shares BRER consideration
repurchase repurchased Highest Lowest paid
BE A 7 BEROEA BE 1K it z@aRE
HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT
February 2005 200542 A 832,000 0.240 0.238 200,465
March 2005 200543 A 3,000,000 0.241 0.228 721,581
June 2005 200546 A 1,092,000 0.220 0.219 241,358
Total &t 4,924,000 1,163,404

The above shares were cancelled upon repurchases and accordingly
the issued share capital of the Company was reduced by the par
value of these shares amounted to HK$49,240. An aggregate
amount of HK$1,114,164 equivalent to the premium portion and
brokerage expenses payable on the repurchases was charged
against the share premium account.

FRBHEBREEDEE Bt KA
BAZBEARAERUHERN ZE@E
449,240 T c —FEMENERE R K
hEZEEDINRENELRI 285
1,114,648 TEER DB ERTEH -
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23. RESERVES 23. &%
Group &6
The Group's reserves and the movements for the year are FENASENFEBRERETNEDCDH
presented in the consolidated statement of changes in equity JIRNESBENGERREHRERA -
on page 53.
Company AT
Share Accumulated
premium losses Total
iR 4 4
HE ) At
HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT
Balance at 1 July 2003 F200347 A 18 &tk 7,727,060 (464,562) 7,262,498
Capitalisation issue of shares ERETRN (2,369,900) - (2,369,900)
Pre IPO Conversion of BRAARBENES
Convertible Notes QESES 6,192,000 - 6,192,000
Proceeds from issue of shares by NEBEERARAEEAR
placing and public offer BRI FTIS 50IR 31,360,000 - 31,360,000
Share issue expenses %17 81T X (9,614,792) - (9,614,792)
Loss for the year FEEE - (1,123,222) (1,123,222)
Balance at 30 June 2004 N2004F 6 A 308 &% 33,294,368 (1,587,784) 31,706,584
First Post IPO Conversion of BRARBEERE-R
Convertible Notes B SRR R 8,256,000 - 8,256,000
Second Post IPO Conversion of BARABERELR
Convertible Notes BRannREE 6,192,000 - 6,192,000
Shares repurchase i 7 B 1= (1,114,164) - (1,114,164)
Loss for the year FEEE - (305,945) (305,945)
Balance at 30 June 2005 R 2005F 6 A 308 & &% 46,628,204 (1,893,729) 44,734,475
The Company’s reserves available for distribution comprise share ARAAEI RO FHEEEERDRE R 25
premium and accumulated profits. Under the Companies Law wEH  BEHESHEARE  BHOGEETH
of the Cayman Islands, share premium is distributable to DETFRE - EETIHNERTARARNEE
shareholders, subject to the condition that the Company cannot REORTIRE - R BEFREL DR - ()
declare or pay a dividend, or make a distribution out of share EoRENeAEeMREANHRERERE - &
premium if (i) it is, or would after the payment be, unable to (WEEEMNEREBESALREERRELA
pay its liabilities as they become due, or (ii) the realisable value BEEBEITRARAAT -
of its assets would thereby be less than the aggregate of its
liabilities and its issued share capital account.
At 30 June 2005, the Company’s distributable reserves amounted R200566HA30F KRR A RFEE A
to HK$44,734,475 (2004: HK$31,706,584). 44,734,475 7T (20044 : 31,706,584

Jo) °
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24, BEALRG R
AEERFENEBEALTANUNTRS

24. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES
During the year, the Group had the following transactions with
related parties:

Nature of transactions 2005 2004
REME 2005% 20045
Notes HK$ HK$
¢ i BT BT
Spring Biotech Limited Spring Biotech Limited
Sales of diagnostic testing services HEDEARA RS a 48,245 771,975
Wellchamp Capital Limited Wellchamp Capital Limited
Net rental and utility WEHEEBAR
charges reimbursed KEEFHE b 331,060 310,700
Notes: e
(a) Sales of diagnostic testing services made to Spring Biotech Limited, (a) ULEXR FIEMEA R F K MR Spring Biotech
a shareholder of the Company. The Group had trade receivables Limited #%& 2 BRI 5 AR % o 720054 12004
of HK$1,185 and HK$37,300 due from Spring Biotech Limited as F6H308 + A& E & U Spring Biotech Limited
at 30 June 2005 and 2004 respectively. Mr. Cho Kam Luk, an HZ ZEXD R A1,1857 T 237,300/ 7T ©
executive Director, was interested in the transactions as a beneficial 7% £ E ¢ F= 2L & A Spring Biotech Limited #Y
shareholder of Spring Biotech Limited. The maximum outstanding BHRE  RERRSFEERR - 81220055 &
balance for the year ended 30 June 2005 and 2004 was HK$81,750 2004F 6 A30B L FEMKEZRSEHD
and HK$330,035 respectively. 781,750/ 7T % 330,035 7T ©
(b) Pursuant to sub-lease agreements dated 29 August 2003 and 26 (b) BIER2003F8A29H K 200447 A 26H 5] L

July 2004, the Group sub-leased part of its office premises to
Wellchamp Capital Limited (“Wellchamp”) for the period from 26
May 2003 to 12 February 2005 at a monthly rental of HK$25,000.
A renewal agreement was entered into by Company with
Wellchamp on 25 April 2005 to extend sub-leasing period to 12
February 2007 at a monthly rental of HK$29,500 (other terms
remained the same). A net amount of HK$331,060 and
HK$310,700 was paid by Wellchamp to the Group as rental and
utility charges during the year ended 30 June 2005 and 2004
respectively. Mr. Cheng Yan Tak, Angus Ronald is interested in the
transactions as a director and shareholder of Wellchamp. The
Group had other payable of HK$618 and HK$413 as at 30 June
2005 and 2004 respectively due to Wellchamp.
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MATEHE  ARARBERREN—SBHIH
F Wellchamp Capital Limited ([Wellchamp]) -
HiBR 120034 58 26H # £ 20059 28 12H
1k A7H25,000 7T © AN 2 & £ Wellchamp#
2005F 48250 L EEHE - Uil AR
RFE2007F2A 128 (R iEF@ERTE) -
A 29,500/ 7T © # = 20054 K 200446 A 30
HIEFE - WellchampR A& B S M€ &
IKEEFHE S B A331,060 7T £ 310,700
TC o BB {E S AWellchampf E E R R -
RZEX AR « REERK 20055 £ 2004
F6H308 B ERWellchampH £ KBS 5 A
6187 7L 413 T ©
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24. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES

(continued)
Notes: (continued)

()

(e)

The Group entered into a deed of assignment of patents dated 18
January 2005 with Dr. Yeung Wah Hin, Alex whereby Dr. Yeung
Wah Hin, Alex assigned and transferred all the intellectual property
rights, title and interests in eight patent applications including (i)
United States provisional patent application and Chinese patent
application relating to “the use of circulating Epstein-barr virus
(EBV) DNA in the serum or plasma of individuals as a screening
test for pre cancerous, carcinoma in situ and cancer lesions”; (ii)
United States patent application, Chinese patent application,
European patent application, Canadian patent application and
Japanese patent application relating to “inhibition of gene
expression by delivery of specially selected double stranded or
other forms of small interfering RNA precursors enabling the
formation and function of small interfering RNA in vivo and in
vitro”; and (iii) United States patent application relating to
"methods using non-genic sequences for the detection,
modification and treatment of any disease or improvement of
function of a cell” for a consideration of HK$1 each.

The Group entered into the following agreement and assignment
of patents with the Chinese University:

(i) an agreement dated 15 November 2004 whereby exclusive
licence agreements relating to the technology titled “non-
invasive prenatal monitoring”, “methods for evaluating stroke
or cardiac ischemia by nucleic acid detection”, “methods for
evaluating a disease condition by nucleic acid detection and
fractionation” and “novel classification methods for pleural
effusions” were terminated with effect from 28 January 2005.

(i) an agreement dated 3 February 2005 whereby the territories
of the exclusive licence agreements relating to the technology
titled “detection of cells or DNA of different origins within
the body” and “circulating mRNA as diagnostic markers for
pregnancy-related disorders” were changed from worldwide
to territories including Japan, Australia, PRC and Hong Kong
only. In exchange, all patent applications in Japan, Australia,
the PRC and Hong Kong relating to technologies titled
“circulating Epstein-Barr virus DNA in the serum of patients
with gastric carcinoma”, “circulating Epstein-Barr virus DNA
in the serum or plasma of patients for the prediction and
detection of Epstein-Barr virus associated cancers apart from
head, neck and lymphoid malignancies” and "“combination
of circulating Epstein-Barr virus (EBV) DNA in the serum or
plasma of patients and a method to assess EBV subtypes for
the prediction and detection of Epstein-Barr virus associated
cancers” would be assigned to the Group. The Chinese
University assigned these patent applications to the Group
on 4 February 2005.

At 30 June 2005 and 2004, the Group had other payables of
HK$Nil and HK$213,366 respectively due to the Chinese University.
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25. OPERATING LEASES COMMITMENTS 25. ‘«M*ﬂ,?(]??(ﬂ%

(a) At the balance sheet dates, the Group and the Company (a) REHEER  AEBREQAGBRERT
had the following outstanding commitments under non- T’ﬁﬁﬁm%«%ﬁﬂ] HEMERBFEETHER
cancellable operating leases in respect of land and buildings 1818 A
as follows:

2005 2004

2005 20044

HK$ HK$

B BT

Within 1 year —FR 1,260,000 490,746
After 1 year but within 5 years —FHREARAEFA 458,457 -
After 5 years hF & - -
1,718,457 490,746

(b) At the balance sheet dates, the Group and the Company (b) AREZHEEH  AEBRARBREDRA
had total future minimum sub-lease payments expected to BsE o T 4 T T8 ER 45 0] Uk B A ok Rk 5
be received under non-cancellable sub-leases as follows: ENTAZBEBMT

2005 2004

2005 20044

HK$ HK$

BT BT

Within 1 year —FR" 354,000 -
After 1 year but within 5 years —FHEARAFR 219,143 -
After 5 years hEE - -
573,143 -

26. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 26. EARRIE

2005 2004

2005 20044

HK$ HK$

BT BT

Contracted but not provided for BEAEREE 260,014 -

The Company’s subsidiary contracted for an acquisition of a KARzMBERARIREEE®mMIA - RE

motor vehicle at a consideration of HK$428,014 for which a /428,014 7T+ 1R 2005F6 A X ik &

deposit of HK$168,000 had been paid in June 2005 and for 168,000/ 7T - i1 & A E #i #% IA 100,000/ 7T

the old motor vehicle to be traded in for an amount of HE o

HK$100,000.

Saved as disclosed above, the Group and the Company had no BREXHBREN  KEBRARFAREZE

other significant capital commitment for the year ended 30 200556 430 H 1L 2 3f i H At 5 K& AR IE

June 2005 (2004: Nil). (20044 : f&) o
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27. SHARE OPTION
(a) Share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”) was

adopted by the shareholders of the Company on 20 April
2004 for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards
to eligible participants who contribute to the success of
the Group's operations.

The board of Directors (the “Board”) may, at its discretion,
invite any employee, Directors, advisor, consultant, licensors,
distributors, suppliers, agents, customers, joint venture
partners, strategic partners and services providers of and/
or to any member of the Group whom the Board considers
in its sole discretion, to have contributed to the Group
from time to time (together “Participants”) to take up
options to subscribe for shares of the Company (“Options”).

Options granted should be accepted within 14 days from
the date of grant. Upon acceptance of the Options, the
eligible person shall pay HK$1 to the Company by way of
consideration for the grant. The Options may be exercised
in accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme
at any time during the option period after the Options has
been granted by the Board. An option period is a period to
be determined by the Board in its absolute discretion and
notified by the Board to each eligible person as being the
period during which any Options may be exercised, such
period to expire not later than 10 years after the date of
grant of the Options.

The subscription price will be determined by the Board of
the Company at its absolute discretion and shall be no less
than the highest of: (a) the closing price of the shares as
stated in the daily quotations sheet issued by the Stock
Exchange on the date of grant which must be a business
day; and (b) the average closing price of the shares as
stated in the daily quotations sheets issued by the Stock
Exchange for the five business days immediately preceding
the date of grant; and (c) the nominal value of a share.

The total number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all outstanding options granted or to be granted
under the Share Option Scheme is 38,307,600 shares
representing 10% of the issued share capital of the
Company as at the balance sheet date.
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27. SHARE OPTION (continued)

(a

(continued)

No Participants shall be granted an option which, if
exercised in full, would result in such Participants becoming
entitled to subscribe for such number of shares as, when
aggregated with the total number of shares already issued
under all the options previously granted to him or her
which have been exercised, and, issuable under all the
outstanding options previously granted to him or her which
are for the time being subsisting and unexercised, would
exceed 1% of the total number of shares in issue in any
12-month period up to the date of grant of the Options.

Unless early terminated in accordance with the terms
therein, the Share Option Scheme will remain valid and
effective for a period of 10 years commencing on 18 June
2004,

No option has been granted under the Share Option Scheme
during the year ended 30 June 2004.
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27. SHARE OPTION (continued) 27. B (&)
(a) (continued) @) (&)
Movements of share options under the Share Option IRERERER S - B 220059 6730A 1
Scheme for the year ended 30 June 2005 are as follows: FEERENESHFBEOT :

Number of underlying shares in respect of which share options were granted

EREERESRZ2EBROHE
Exercised/
Date of Outstanding Cancelled/ Outstanding Exercise
Name of director grant at 1/07/2004 Granted Lapsed at 30/06/2005 price
200457418 BT/ R2005%6A308
BEsng R AH i KT BRE BHE/BAX e R AT 6 @
HK$
BT
Dr. Yeung Wah Hin, Alex 20/06/2005 - 2,222,222(i) - 2,222,222 0.225
REBRE
Mr. Cheng Yan Tak, 20/06/2005 - 669,711()) - 669,711 0.225
Angus Ronald
gRErs
Mrs. Yeung Tsui Mai Ling, 20/06/2005 - 1,111,1110) - 7111,1M 0.225
Margaret
BRERIT
Mr. Cho Kam Luk 20/06/2005 - 1,111,1110) - 7111, 0.225
EEA g
Mr. Lau Kam Shan 20/06/2005 - 1,111,1110) - 111,11 0.225
e lkk
Dr. Ngan Man Wong, Matthew 20/06/2005 - 1,333,333(ii) - 1,333,333 0.225
ANERE
Dr. Loh Kai Tsu, Kevin 20/06/2005 - 1,333,333(ii) - 1,333,333 0.225
FE i
Mr. Chan Siu Wing, Raymond 20/06/2005 - 1,333,333(ii) - 1,333,333 0.225
Bk&EEE
Total& &t - 10,225,265 - 10,225,265
Notes: [t st -
(i)  The share options are exercisable at any time for a period of () BRETRAELBEBRT=FHEANT
three years from the date of grant. B BITE -
(i) The share options are exercisable at any time for a period of (i) BREATNELBHE;TFHEARET
ten years from the date of grant. AR FITTEE o
(iii) The closing price of the shares of the Company immediately (iiiy B4E20059F 68200 (BWREREBE) A
before 20 June 2005 on which the options were granted RRARGD 2T ER0.2258TT ©
was HK$0.225.
(iv) Total consideration received during the year from Directors (v EFENEWMEEEZEMNERERS
for taking up the options granted was HK$8 (2004: Nil) 2 BREASETT (20045 : &) »
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27. B (&)
(b) BIEP N KEEKRDFR200246878H

27. SHARE OPTION (continued)
(b) Under an agreement entered into between the Chinese

University and the Company on 8 August, 2002 relating to
the grant of a right of first refusal to the Company by the
Chinese University in respect of certain technology and
inventions, as amended and supplemented by agreements
dated 31 October, 2003 and 16 April, 2004 (the “Right of
First Refusal Agreement”), the Company will be offered a
right of first refusal for the grant by the Chinese University
of a royalty-bearing exclusive licence to use and
commercially develop certain technologies and inventions
and other non-invasive diagnostic technologies for detecting
cancer and foetal diseases developed by Professor Lo Yuk
Ming, Dennis in future.

In return, the Company agreed to grant to the Chinese
University or such person as the Chinese University may
direct (including trustees of any funds) options to subscribe
for shares or to pay cash up to a maximum amount of
HK$4,600,000 over the period of the term of such
agreement of four years commencing from 18 June, 2004.
Such grant of options will be granted to the Chinese
University at intervals of twelve months. Such options are
not intended to be granted under the share option scheme
adopted by the Company on 20 April 2004.

No option has been granted to the Chinese University under
the Right of First Refusal Agreement during the year ended
30 June 2004.

On 28 June 2005 and as at the balance sheet date, share
option of 4,484,305 shares was granted to the Chinese
University with exercise period from 28 December 2005 to
27 June 2010 and exercise price at HK$0.223. The closing
price of the shares of the Company immediately before 28
June 2005 on which the options were granted was
HK$0.223.
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28. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW

STATEMENT

(a) Analysis of changes in financing activities during the

year:

For the year ended 30 June 2005 # Z2005F6H30H IFFE

28. ZEBRERERME

(a) FEANBREZDEH 47 :

Share capital
including Convertible

premium notes
[N CIE:¥:'
(BHEHEE) ZE
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Balance as at 1 July 2003 M2003F7 A 18 &6k 7,737,160 21,500,000
Pre IPO Conversion of BRAREERER
Convertible Notes R EE 6,450,000  (6,450,000)
Proceeds from issue of shares by URERDAAEEHAET
placing and public offer W& P15 1B 32,000,000 -
Placing and public offer shares FeERAHRBEERD 2
issue expenses BITHY (9,614,792) -
Balance as at 30 June 2004 M 2004F 6 A30H & 4% 36,572,368 15,050,000
First Post IPO Conversion of BRAABERE —KNER
Convertible Notes TRBRERE 8,600,000  (8,600,000)
Second Post IPO Conversion of BRAABERE - NER
Convertible Notes AR ER 6,450,000  (6,450,000)
Shares repurchase M 17 & [l (1,163,404) -
Balance as at 30 June 2005 200546 A 30H 4 & 50,458,964 -
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28. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW

STATEMENT (continued)
(b) Non-cash transactions
(i) Payments for licences and patents expenses

(if)

28. ZEBRERERME (B)

(b) kREXSH

(i) XMFAREFER

2005 2004
2005 20044
HK$ HK$
B BT
Additions in licences and patents 57 Al K E RIS 228,759 411,923
Add: Payables for additions of M EEFTRER
licences and patents at N JE T
the beginning of the year FIA 213,366 145,558
Less: Overprovision for payables o FF R
for additions of licences BRI
and patents at the JE 1 3RIE 2
beginning of the year AR (46,403) -
Less: Payables for additions of W FRFTRER
licences and patents BN JE T
at end of the year FIE - (213,366)
Cash payments for licences and patents  #F Al & E I 638 & {4 3¢ 395,722 344,115
Payments for development costs (i) Z1TEEKK
2005 2004
20054 20045
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Additions in development costs B 8% B AR 2R 292,277 289,642
Add: Payables for additions of m: FUREKR
development costs at the BIREER
beginning of the year HIE - 625,000
Less: Amortisation of capitalised W BB EARER
licences and patents to rA) R A
development costs ERERA (292,277) (289,642)
Cash payments for development costs B ¥R A H IR 4 3 - 625,000
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29. STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS BY SEGMENTS

Segment information is provided as follows:
Group
Business activities Principal activities

The use of blood test in the
diagnosis of cancerous diseases.

Sales of diagnostic
testing services

Research and development Research and development relating
to diagnosis of cancer and
certain other illnesses.

(a) By business activities
Results for the year ended 30 June 2005

29.

For the year ended 30 June 2005 # Z2005F6H30H IFFE

2 BRA L
SHERMT -
5B

XBED TEXH

HEDHASES (28R 0 DA TR
& o
Lk BEDNBERE TH
o TR RA % T
fe -

(a) REXZBHIE
HZE2005F6A308 L FENEE

Sales of
diagnosis  Research and
testing services  development Total
HEDH i
A RE BB & &%
HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT
REVENUE KA
External sales 2B 85 & 1,133,297 - 1,133,297
CONTRIBUTION TO LOSS ReBREER
FROM OPERATIONS (3,618,822) (2,444,989) (6,063,811)
Interest income FEUW A 588,062
Unrealised holding loss BEEMEED
of other investments KEBEE (114,924)
Taxation I8 -
LOSS ATTRIBUTABLE TO RREGEE
SHAREHOLDERS (5,590,673)
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For the year ended 30 June 2005 & Z2005F 67308 L5

29. STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS BY SEGMENTS
(continued)
(a) By business activities (continued)
Assets and liabilities at 30 June 2005

29. B MRALEHK (K)

(a) MEKEZEH A E (H)
20056 B30 EEHE &

Sales of
diagnosis  Research and
testing services  development Total
HEDH i
B AR B EE
HKS HK$ HKS$
B B BT
ASSETS E
Segment assets DHEE E 13,486,411 16,322,538 29,808,949
Unallocated segment assets KO HHBEE 7,730,989
37,539,938
LIABILITIES 8
Segment liabilities DEBERE 358,842 187,760 546,602
Unallocated segment liabilities AOBEAHERE -
546,602

Other information for the year ended 30 June 2005

EE2005F6A308 tFEMHMER

Sales of
diagnosis  Research and
testing services  development Total
&P i
LS sk CH
HKS HK$ HKS
B BT BT
Capital expenditure BEAZH 120,021 164,404 284,425
Depreciation and amortisation FEREHE 823,169 - 823,169
Write-off of intangible assets BREEME - 419,087 419,087
Unrealised holding loss of BEEMKRENKRER

other investments — unallocated &8 — KD 2

- - 114,924
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS &t # # * Kf &

For the year ended 30 June 2005 # Z 20054 6H308 L FE

29. STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS BY SEGMENTS 29. o WBRAMEK (&)
(continued)
(a) By business activities (continued) (a) MEKTBH 2 (H)
Results for the year ended 30 June 2004 HZ2004F 630 L FEMEE
Sales of
diagnosis  Research and
testing services  development Total
HEZH R
A AR 75 £ 2 &5
HK$ HK$ HK$
ow BT o
REVENUE WA
External sales HNEDSH & 1,741,605 - 1,741,605
CONTRIBUTION TO LOSS REBRERM
FROM OPERATIONS (2,650,757) (1,638,513) (4,289,270)
Interest income FE WA 54,966
Taxation 18 -
LOSS ATTRIBUTABLE BREELEE
TO SHAREHOLDERS (4,234,304)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS &t # # * Kf &

For the year ended 30 June 2005 & Z2005F 67308 L5

29. STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS BY SEGMENTS

(continued)

(a) By business activities (continued)
Assets and liabilities at 30 June 2004

29. B MRMEL ()

(a) MEKEZEH A E (H)
200446 B30 EERHE &

Sales of
diagnosis  Research and
testing services  development Total
HEDE #%
A AR 75 B 2% &%
HKS HKS HK$
BT BT BT
ASSETS aE
Segment assets DWEE 24,151,303 20,821,978 44,973,281
Unallocated segment assets RKOBAHBEE -
44,973,281
LIABILITIES &
Segment liabilities DEBE 8,431,332 7,844,536 16,275,868
Unallocated segment liabilities APEDHBEE -
16,275,868

Other information for the year ended 30 June 2004

HZE2004F6A30B FFENEMER

Sales of

diagnosis  Research and
testing services  development Total

HEDE M
B AR 7% B ) B¢ A&t
HK$ HK$ HK$
AT AT BT
Capital expenditure BEAS 166,216 326,147 492,363
Depreciation and amortisation & K 887,505 - 887,505

(b) By geographical location

The revenue and results, assets and liabilities of the Group
for the years ended 30 June 2004 and 2005 are derived
wholly from customers located in one geographical market,

namely Hong Kong.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS &t # # * Kf &

30. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

31.

Subsequent to 30 June 2005 and up to the date of this annual
report, the Company repurchased its own 3,500,000 shares on
GEM.

Save as disclosed above, no material significant events took
place subsequent to 30 June 2005.

APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue
by the board of Directors on 22 September 2005.

30.

31.

For the year ended 30 June 2005 # Z 20054 6H308 L FE

HEHREHE
M2005F6A30ABREEARFRAB - AR
RIEERIERE D HE A F %13 3,500,000 °

% E XA BEEI - 2005967308 3 &
BEALEHRBEE-

WO B S SRk
BSIRRMN2005F9 A2 A EEE &k R IF
BT -
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY & % #i &

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the AEERBENEANRFENEEREESR
Group for the last four financial years is set out below: BEMEHIWNT :
Year ended 30 June
EZ6A30RLEE
2005 2004 2003 2002
20054 20045 20034 20024
HKS$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT
RESULTS ¥
Turnover EEH 1,133,297 1,741,605 1,339,250 525,545
Loss for the year FEEE (5,590,673)  (4,234,304) (4,721,473) (3,065,794)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEHEE
Total assets BMEE 37,539,938 44,973,281 31,537,078 7,904,547
Total liabilities BEE 546,602 16,275,868 27,440,569 7,086,665
Shareholders’ funds BRES 36,993,336 28,697,413 4,096,509 817,882

Notes:

1. The results and assets and liabilities for the two years ended 30 June
2002 and 2003 presented above have been extracted from the
Company's prospectus dated 8 June 2004 which were prepared on a
combined basis as if the Group structure had been in existence
throughout the years concerned to reflect the full year results and
assets and liabilities of the Group for the two years prior to the
reorganisation of the Group on 20 September 2002.

2. The results and assets and liabilities for the years ended 30 June 2004
and 2005 presented above have been extracted from the consolidated
income statement and consolidated balance sheet as set out in this

annual report.

GEX

1. EXFTE25I# 220024 % 200356 A30H (EM{EF
EMEEREEREEDESE B H200456A
SHMARBBRER ZZTEMDNEAHEER
B ORNAEERBERASERFEEN—BEFE N
f B 7N 52 8] 72 2002 F 9 A 20 B # 17 E 48 AT £9 R B F

ERMEFEXEREEHRRAE -

2. EXFE5EZ2004F % 200546308 L FEM
EYERBEABBENREERNTRAMIANGE IS

KEEAREEREBR -
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